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31.12.2014 31.12.2013

Assets
CHF m Note

Non-current assets 418.5 408.2
Property, plant, and equipment 15 234.9 232.3

Intangible assets 16 146.1 146.4

Deferred tax assets 13 37.2 29.3

Investments in associates and other non-current assets 17 0.3 0.2

Current assets 677.1 718.8
Inventories 18 230.6 213.4

Trade receivables 19 150.6 148.8

Other receivables 24.0 29.2

Deferred income and prepaid charges 17.3 18.3

Other current financial instruments 20 49.5 68.1

Cash and cash equivalents 21 205.1 241.0

Total assets 1,095.6 1,127.0

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
CHF m

Shareholders’ equity 738.8 786.8
Share capital 23 0.2 0.2

Treasury shares 23 – 0.1 – 0.1

Reserves and retained earnings 738.7 786.7

Non-current liabilities 112.6 99.1
Non-current financial debt 25 1.4 1.2

Employee benefit obligations 26 60.5 51.8

Non-current provisions 27 24.2 26.1

Deferred tax liabilities 13 26.5 20.0

Current liabilities 244.2 241.1
Trade payables 86.5 87.2

Current provisions 27 17.8 17.3

Accrued expenses 28 90.4 88.5

Current financial debt 29 0.6 0.7

Current tax liabilities 18.9 14.5

Other current liabilities 30.0 32.9

Total liabilities 356.8 340.2
Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 1,095.6 1,127.0

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated balance sheet 
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2014 2013

CHF m Note

Continuing operations

Net sales 5 1,226.8 1,199.7
Cost of goods sold – 765.8 – 747.3

Gross profit 461.0 452.4
Development costs 6 – 16.5 – 16.4

Marketing and distribution costs – 196.6 – 197.1

Administrative costs 7 – 94.2 – 90.7

Other operating expenses 8 – 13.2 – 19.3

Other operating income 9 8.9 6.8

Operating profit 149.4 135.7
Financial income 11 5.9 10.9

Financial expenses 12 – 1.0 – 5.7

Group profit before taxes 154.3 140.9
Income taxes 13 – 30.9 – 30.7

Group profit for the year from continuing operations 123.4 110.2
Group profit for the year from discontinued operations after taxes 30 0.2 7.4
Group profit for the year 123.6 117.6

Earnings per share, total

CHF

Basic earnings per share 14 62.04 56.78

Diluted earnings per share 14 61.95 56.76

Earnings per share from continuing operations

CHF

Basic earnings per share 14 61.92 53.21

Diluted earnings per share 14 61.83 53.19

Earnings per share from discontinued operations

CHF

Basic earnings per share 14 0.12 3.57

Diluted earnings per share 14 0.12 3.57

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
 

Consolidated income statement
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2014 2013

CHF m

Group profit for the year 123.6 117.6
Items that will not be reclassified to the income statement:

Remeasurements of employee benefit obligations, net of taxes – 6.2 0.9

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to the income statement:

Translation differences 0.6 – 8.2

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax – 5.6 – 7.3
Total comprehensive income 118.0 110.3

Comprehensive income statement

The items under ‘Other comprehensive income for  
the year, net of tax’ include income tax effects, which 
are described in note 13 ‘Income taxes’.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the 
consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated shareholders’ equity

2014

Share 
capital

Treasury 
shares Reserves

Translation 
differences Total

 

 

CHF m

December 31, 2013 0.2 – 0.1 1,031.5 – 244.8 786.8
Group profit for the year 123.6 123.6

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax – 6.2 0.6 – 5.6

Total comprehensive income 117.4 0.6 118.0
Share-based payments 4.2 4.2

Treasury shares – 0.0 0.0 – 141.6 – 141.6

Dividend payment – 28.6 – 28.6

December 31, 2014 0.2 – 0.1 982.9 – 244.2 738.8

2013

Share 
capital

Treasury 
shares Reserves

Translation 
differences Total

 

 

CHF m

December 31, 2012 0.3 – 0.1 965.6 – 236.6 729.2
Group profit for the year 117.6 117.6

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 0.9 – 8.2 – 7.3

Total comprehensive income 118.5 – 8.2 110.3
Share-based payments 3.1 3.1

Treasury shares – 0.1 0.0 – 30.8 – 30.9

Dividend payment – 24.9 – 24.9

December 31, 2013 0.2 – 0.1 1,031.5 – 244.8 786.8

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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2014 2013

Cash flow from operating activities
CHF m

Group profit for the year 123.6 117.6

Profit from disposal of discontinued operations after taxes – 0.2 – 7.4

Tax expense 30.9 30.7

Group profit before taxes 154.3 140.9
Financial result – 4.9 – 5.2

Depreciation of property, plant, and equipment 32.8 33.3

Amortization of intangible assets 2.9 3.1

Profit from the sale of non-current assets – 1.2 0.0

Share-based payments 4.2 3.1

Income tax paid – 27.1 – 24.9

Decrease in provisions and employee benefit obligations – 1.4 – 5.7

Increase (–)/Decrease in net operating working capital1) – 15.7 1.3

Decrease/Increase (–) in other current assets 3.4 – 17.8

Net cash flow from operating activities 147.3 128.1

Cash flow from investing activities
CHF m

Purchase of business operations net of cash acquired – 0.3

Purchase of non-current assets – 39.5 – 34.6

Proceeds from the disposal of non-current assets 2.2 1.6

Purchase of current financial instruments 0.0 – 0.8

Proceeds from current financial instruments 23.7 86.2

Interest received 0.6 0.8

Net cash flow from investing activities – 13.0 52.9

Cash flow from financing activities
CHF m

Repayment of current financial debt – 0.1 – 132.4

Repayment of non-current financial debt – 1.4

Interest paid – 0.2 – 5.5

Purchase of treasury shares – 152.7 – 62.2

Proceeds from sale of treasury shares 9.3 37.4

Dividend payment – 28.6 – 24.9

Net cash flow from financing activities – 172.3 – 189.0

Change in cash and cash equivalents
CHF m

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents – 38.0 – 8.0

Translation differences on cash and cash equivalents 2.1 – 2.3

Total cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 241.0 251.3

Total cash and cash equivalents at year-end 205.1 241.0

1) Net operating working capital includes the items ‘Trade receivables’, ‘Inventories’, and ‘Trade payables’.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated cash flow statement
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1 General information

Forbo Holding Ltd (‘the company’) and its subsidiaries 
(together with the company constituting the ‘Group’) 
manufacture floorings, construction adhesives, and 
drive and conveyor technology. The Group has a glob-
al network of locations with production and distribu-
tion as well as pure sales companies. 

The company is a public limited company under Swiss 
law, domiciled in Baar, Switzerland. It is listed on the SIX 
Swiss Exchange.

These financial statements were approved by the Board 
of Directors on March 11, 2015, and released for publi-
cation on March 17, 2015. The report is subject to ap-
proval by the Ordinary General Meeting of April 24, 
2015. 

2 Summary of significant  
accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the prepa-
ration of these consolidated financial statements are 
set out below. These policies have been consistently 
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated.

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of Forbo Hold-
ing Ltd were prepared in accordance with the Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and in com-
pliance with Swiss law. They were drawn up on the 
basis of the audited financial statements of the sub-
sidiaries prepared according to uniform corporate ac-
counting policies. The reporting date for all Group com-
panies is December 31. 

The consolidated statements were prepared in accord-
ance with the principle of historical costs with the ex-
ception of available-for-sale financial assets and deriv-
ative financial instruments, which are measured at fair 
value. 

The preparation of the consolidated financial state-
ments requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that can affect reported revenues, ex-
penses, assets, liabilities, and contingent assets and lia-
bilities at the date of the financial statements. If the es-
timates and assumptions made by management at the 
date of the financial statements to the best of their 
knowledge differ from the actual circumstances, the 
original estimates and assumptions will be adjusted in 
the reporting year in which the circumstances have 
changed.

Scope and principles of consolidation
The subsidiaries of Forbo Holding Ltd are all domestic 
and foreign companies in which the company holds 
rights to direct relevant activities, has exposure to vari-
able returns from its involvement with the investee, 
and is able to use its power over the investee to affect 
the amount of the investor’s returns. They are decon-
solidated from the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to ac-
count for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The value of 
the transferred consideration in a business combina-
tion is recognized at the fair value on the acquisition 
date. The consideration includes cash payments and 
the fair value of the assets transferred, liabilities in-
curred or acquired, and equity instruments issued by 
the acquirer on the transaction date. Liabilities depend-
ent on future events which are based on agreements 
on contingent considerations are accounted for at their 
fair value in the accounting treatment of the acquisi-
tion. Acquisition costs are reported as expenditure in 
the income statement. At the acquisition date, the ac-
quirer recognizes the acquired identifiable assets, liabil-
ities, contingent liabilities and any non-controlling in-
terest in the acquiree. The acquired identifiable assets 
and liabilities assumed are recognized at their fair value. 
Provided the acquirer does not acquire a 100% share in 
the acquiree, the non-controlling interest recognized 
as the proportionate share of the fair value of the net 
assets acquired. Goodwill is the excess of the consider-
ation of the business combination and the amount of 
the non-controlling interest over the identifiable net 
assets assessed at fair value. Goodwill is not amortized 
but is tested for impairment at least after each report-
ing date or earlier if there are any indications of a pos-
sible impairment. 

Notes –  
accounting principles
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Foreign currency translation
The individual companies prepare their financial state-
ments in their functional currency, which generally 
corresponds to the local currency. The functional cur-
rency is the currency of the primary economic environ-
ment in which the company operates. Foreign cur-
rency transactions are translated into the functional 
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of transaction. Foreign exchange gains and loss-
es resulting from the settlement of such transactions 
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognized in the income statement, 
unless recognized in other comprehensive income as 
qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net invest-
ment hedges. 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared  
in Swiss francs. The Swiss franc is both the functional 
currency and the reporting currency of the company. 
Unless otherwise noted, all sums are stated in millions 
of Swiss francs (CHF m) and are generally rounded to 
one decimal place. The annual statements of foreign 
Group companies stated in foreign currencies are 
translated into Swiss francs as follows: assets and liabil-
ities at year-end exchange rates; the income statement 
and cash flow statement at average exchange rates for 
the year. Currency translation differences arising from 
the different translation of balance sheets and income 
statements and from equity capital transactions are 
recognized in other comprehensive income and taken 
to profit or loss for the period (reclassified) in the event 
the foreign Group company is disposed of.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from 
the translation of net investments in independent for-
eign operations are recognized in other comprehen-
sive income. The same applies to borrowings and oth-
er currency instruments designated as hedges of such 
investments. When a foreign operation is disposed of, 
these exchange differences in profit or loss for the pe-
riod are transferred to the income statement as part of 
the gain or loss on sale.

Inter-company transactions, balances, and unrealized 
gains or losses on transactions between Group compa-
nies are eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries 
have been changed, where necessary, to ensure con-
sistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

Associates are all entities over which the Group has sig-
nificant influence but not control, generally accompa-
nied by a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the 
voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted 
for using the equity method of accounting and are ini-
tially recognized at cost. The Group’s investments in as-
sociates include goodwill identified on acquisition. 

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition 
profits or losses is recognized in the income statement, 
and its share of post-acquisition changes in reserves is 
recognized in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition 
movements are offset against the carrying amount of 
the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an 
associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, 
the Group does not recognize further losses, unless it 
has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf 
of the associate. 

The subsidiaries included in the group of consolidated 
companies are listed under ‘Group companies’ (from 
page 146 of this report).
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Income statement (average 
exchange rates for the year)

Balance sheet 
(year-end exchange rates)

2014 2013 2014 2013

Exchange rates
Euro zone EUR 1 1.2146 1.2307 1.2030 1.2256

USA USD 1 0.9155 0.9271 0.9943 0.8915

Great Britain GBP 1 1.5071 1.4494 1.5486 1.4698

Japan JPY 100 0.8653 0.9517 0.8308 0.8478

China CNY 100 14.8600 15.0800 16.0200 14.6900

Sweden SEK 100 13.3517 14.2328 12.7370 13.6790

The following exchange rates against the Swiss franc 
have been applied for the most important currencies 
concerned:

Current and non-current classification
Assets are designated current assets if they are realized 
or consumed in the Group’s ordinary business cycle 
within one year or if they are held for trading purposes. 
All other assets are assigned to non-current assets. 

All obligations which the Group intends to settle with-
in the ordinary business cycle using operating cash 
flows or which are due within one year of the reporting 
date are assigned to current liabilities. All other obliga-
tions are assigned to non-current liabilities.

Segment information
Segment reporting discloses financial and descriptive 
information on the reportable segments. The reporta-
ble segments are the business segments for which 
separate financial information is available and which 
are regularly reviewed by the chief operating deci-
sion-maker concerned in order to determine how re-
sources are to be allocated and performance assessed. 
Segment reporting is made on the basis of internal 
controlling. 

The reportable segments apply the same accounting 
policies as the Group. The provision of services among 
the reportable segments is transacted at arm’s length, 
and the prices applied are therefore comparable to 
those that would have applied in a transaction with a 
third party. 

Segment result is determined on operating profit level 
(EBIT). Allocation of interest and taxes to the individual 
divisions and Corporate is not appropriate owing to 
the highly centralized Finance and Tax functions.

Discontinued operations
Discontinued operations are recognized separately if  
a component of the Group has either already been dis-
continued or been classified as held for sale. The pri-
or-year figures affecting the income statement are ad-
justed accordingly and are also presented separately. 
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Income taxes
Income taxes constitute the total of current and de-
ferred income taxes.

Current income taxes are determined on the basis of 
taxable profits and the applicable tax laws of the indi-
vidual countries. They are recognized as an expense in 
the accounting period in which the profits are made. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for temporary 
differences between assets and liabilities in the bal-
ance sheet, and their tax bases if they will result in tax-
able income in future. Deferred tax assets are reported 
for temporary differences that will result in deductible 
amounts in future periods and for tax effects from un-
used tax losses and tax credits, but only to the extent 
as it is probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 
available against which these differences can be offset. 
Deferred tax liabilities are not recognized if temporary 
differences arise from the initial recognition of good-
will. 

Deferred tax assets and tax liabilities are measured at 
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 
which the asset will be realized or the liability will be 
settled based on enacted rates. Current and deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are offset when they arise from 
the same tax reporting group, relate to the same tax 
authority, the legal right to offset exists, and they are 
intended to be settled net or realized simultaneously.

Current and deferred income taxes are recognized as 
an income tax benefit or expense in the income state-
ment, with the exception of items posted directly to 
equity or recognized in other comprehensive income. 
In this case, the corresponding tax effect is also to be 
recognized directly in shareholders’ equity or in other 
comprehensive income.

Net sales and revenue recognition
Net sales include the fair value of the consideration re-
ceived or to be received for the sale of goods and ser-
vices as part of ordinary business activity. Net sales are 
reported net of revenue reductions such as sales tax, 
returns, discounts, and rebates. 

Revenue from the sale of goods and services is recog-
nized in the income statement if the risks and rewards 
of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, the 
amount of the revenue can be reliably determined, and 
payment is deemed to be likely.

Appropriate provisions are made for expected warranty 
claims.

Research and development
All research costs are posted directly to the income 
statement in the period in which they are incurred. De-
velopment costs must be capitalized if all the recogni-
tion criteria have been met, the research phase can be 
clearly distinguished from the development phase, 
and costs can be clearly allocated to individual project 
phases without any overlap. Development expenses 
that do not meet these criteria are taken to the income 
statement.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees 
are valued at the fair value of the equity instrument on 
the date on which the instruments are granted. The fair 
value of the share options is determined by the Black-
Scholes model. The anticipated life of the option used 
in the model is adjusted on the basis of best estimates 
with regard to the effects of non-transferability, restric-
tions on exercise, and conduct. The fair value deter-
mined on granting equity-settled share-based pay-
ments is recognized in the income statement over the 
vesting period and is included in personnel expenses.
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Intangible assets
Goodwill is the excess of the consideration paid or pay-
able of a business combination and the amount of the 
non-controlling interest over the identifiable net assets 
assessed at fair value. Goodwill derived in a business 
combination is included in ‘Intangible assets’. Goodwill 
is tested at least annually for impairment and carried at 
cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Trademarks, licenses, customer relationships, and tech-
nologies acquired in a business combination are recog-
nized at fair value at the acquisition date. Trademarks 
carried in the balance sheet with an indefinite useful 
life are not subject to amortization but are tested for 
impairment at least annually. Any impairment is recog-
nized as an expense in the income statement. Certain 
trademarks, licenses, customer relationships, and tech-
nologies have a finite useful life and are carried at cost 
less accumulated amortization. Amortization is calcu-
lated using the straight-line method: trademarks 20 
years, customer relations between 5 and 25 years, and 
technologies 30 years.

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on 
the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to 
use the specific software. These costs are amortized 
over an estimated useful life of 3 years.

Property, plant, and equipment
Property is recognized at cost on acquisition. Land is 
not depreciated, but allowances are set aside for im-
pairments that have occurred. All other fixed assets 
such as machines, vehicles and operational assets are 
reported at cost on acquisition less accrued deprecia-
tion and impairments. 

Betterments that increase the useful lives of the assets, 
significantly improve the quality of the output or en-
able a substantial reduction in operating costs are cap-
italized and depreciated over the remaining useful 
lives.

Depreciation is calculated according to the straight-line 
method over the following estimated useful life:

Land  no depreciation

Buildings 20 to 40 years

Modifications and installations 5 to 10 years or  
 duration of rental contract

Machines and tools 5 to 10 years

Other operational assets 3 to 10 years

Vehicles 5 years

IT 3 to 5 years

Assets under construction no depreciation

If there are signs of an impairment, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is determined. If the carrying 
amount exceeds the recoverable value, the carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced accordingly and the 
difference charged to the income statement.

Assets which are held in financial leasing arrangements 
are depreciated over their estimated useful life in the 
same way as assets belonging to the company or, if this 
is shorter, over the life of the underlying lease agree-
ment. The costs of short-term leasing are charged di-
rectly to the income statement. The corresponding lia-
bilities are disclosed in the notes (see note 32 ‘Leasing’).



104 FORBO ANNUAL REPORT 2014 – CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Available-for-sale financial assets and assets in the cat-
egory ‘Financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss’ are carried at fair value after their initial recogni-
tion. Loans and receivables are carried at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method. 

Gains or losses arising from financial assets in the cat-
egory ‘Financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss’ are recognized in the income statement in the pe-
riod in which they are incurred. Dividend income from 
financial assets classified as at fair value through profit 
or loss is recognized in the income statement when 
the Group’s right to receive payments is established. 

Changes in the fair value of securities classified as avail-
able-for-sale are recognized in other comprehensive 
income. When securities classified as available-for-sale 
are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjust-
ments previously recognized in other comprehensive 
income are reclassified to the income statement. 

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting year 
whether there is objective evidence that a financial as-
set or a group of financial assets is impaired. In the case 
of equity investments classified as available-for-sale fi-
nancial assets, a significant or prolonged decline in the 
fair value of the equity investments below their cost is 
also regarded as evidence that the equity investments 
are impaired. If any such evidence exists for availa-
ble-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – 
measured as the difference between the acquisition 
cost and the current fair value, less any previous im-
pairment losses on that financial asset – is reclassified 
to the income statement. Impairment losses on equity 
instruments recognized in the income statement are 
not reversed through profit and loss. Impairment test-
ing of trade receivables is described in note 19 ‘Trade 
receivables’.

Financial instruments
Financial instruments can be classified as follows:

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 
financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is clas-
sified in this category if acquired principally for the pur-
pose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are also 
classified in this category unless they are designated as 
hedges. 

(b) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are loans and receivables grant-
ed by the Group with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. They are in-
cluded in current assets except for maturities greater 
than twelve months after the end of the reporting year, 
in which case they are classified as non-current assets. 

(c) Financial assets available-for-sale
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative fi-
nancial assets that are either designated in this catego-
ry or not classified in any of the other categories. 

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT
Purchases and sales of financial assets are basically rec-
ognized as soon as the Group becomes a contractual 
party. In the case of regular purchases or sales, the set-
tlement date is relevant for the initial recognition and 
derecognition. 

Financial assets not classified as being at fair value 
through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair val-
ue plus transaction costs. Financial assets which are 
carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially 
recognized at fair value, and transaction costs are ex-
pensed in the income statement. Financial assets are 
derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows 
from the investments have expired or have been trans-
ferred and the Group has transferred substantially all 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership.
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Trade receivables
Trade receivables are stated at invoiced amounts less 
allowances for doubtful risks. Allowances for doubtful 
risks are established based on the maturity structure 
and discernible solvency risks. In addition to individual 
allowances for specific identifiable risks, allowances are 
also made on the basis of statistically determined de-
fault risks.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are stated at nominal value. 
They include cash on hand, postal and bank accounts, 
and fixed-term deposits with maturities of up to 3 
months. 

Shareholders’ equity
Registered shares are classified as share capital at their 
par value. Payments by shareholders above the par val-
ue are credited to reserves. 

Treasury shares are deducted at their par value from 
share capital. The acquisition costs in excess of par val-
ue arising on the acquisition of treasury shares are deb-
ited to reserves. On the sale of treasury shares, gains or 
losses compared with the par value are credited or 
debited to reserves. 

Dividends are debited to equity in the period in which 
the resolution on their distribution is adopted.

Current and non-current financial debt
Current and non-current financial debt comprise bank 
loans and finance lease obligations. It is stated at am-
ortized cost (less transaction costs). 

Financial debt is assigned to current debt, except if the 
Group has to settle the obligation earliest 12 months 
after the reporting date or enjoys unlimited right to 
postpone payment of the debt by at least 12 months 
after the reporting date.

Derivative financial instruments 
The Group uses derivative financial instruments solely 
to manage financial risks and not for the purpose of 
speculation. The derivatives used are accounted for on 
the day the trade is conducted. Derivative financial in-
struments are recognized, in accordance with IAS 39, 
at market value in the balance sheet under ‘Other cur-
rent financial instruments’ or under ‘Liabilities from cur-
rent financial debt’. 

To hedge its currency risks, the Group uses mainly cur-
rency spot transactions, forward currency contracts, 
and currency swap transactions. The fair values of the 
various derivative instruments used for hedging pur-
poses are disclosed in note 33 ‘Additional information 
on financial instruments’.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realiz-
able value. Cost includes direct material and, if appli-
cable, other direct costs and related production over-
heads to the extent that they are incurred in bringing 
the inventories to their present location and condition. 
The net realizable value constitutes the estimated sales 
price less all estimated costs up to completion, as well 
as the costs of marketing, sales, and distribution. 

Inventories are for the greater part measured at av-
erage cost. Adjustments are made for unsaleable in-
ventories and inventories with insufficient turnover. 
Inter-company profits on intra-Group deliveries are 
eliminated in the income statement.
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3 Critical judgements, estimates and 
appraisals by management 

The application of the measurement and accounting 
principles requires that circumstances and estimates 
be assessed and assumptions be made with respect  
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities. The 
estimates and the underlying assumptions are based 
on past experience and other factors regarded as rele-
vant, including expectations of future events that ap-
pear reasonable in the given circumstances. The actual 
results may, of course, deviate from the estimates and 
assumptions of management.

The following are the main areas in which a significant 
risk exists in the coming business year involving a sig-
nificant adjustment of the carrying value of assets and 
liabilities.

Impairment of non-current assets
Along with the regular periodic review of goodwill and 
intangible assets with an indefinite useful life, the car-
rying amounts of fixed and intangible assets with a 
 finite useful life are also always reviewed if these 
amounts can no longer be realized due to changed 
circumstances or events. If such a situation occurs, the 
recoverable amount is determined based on expected 
future revenues. This corresponds to either the dis-
counted expected cash flows or the expected net 
sales price. 

Important assumptions in these calculations include 
growth rates, margins, estimates and management’s 
expectations of the future development of net work-
ing capital, and discount rates. The actual cash flows 
may deviate from the planned discounted future val-
ues. Likewise, the useful lives may be shortened or 
non-current assets impaired in the event of a change 
in the use of buildings, machinery and facilities, change 
or abandonment of locations, or lower-than-expected 
revenues over the medium term. Further information 
on this topic can be found in note 15 ‘Property, plant, 
and equipment’ and note 16 ‘Intangible assets’.

Employee pension plans
The Group maintains various pension plans designed 
as defined contribution and defined benefit plans. 
These pension plans are established in accordance 
with the local conditions in each country. The plans are 
funded either by contributions to legally autonomous 
pension funds and insurance plans or by recognition of 
the pension plan liabilities in the financial statements 
of the respective companies.

For defined contribution plans, the costs incurred in 
the relevant period correspond to the agreed employer 
contributions.

For defined benefit plans, the pension liabilities are as-
sessed annually by independent actuaries according 
to the projected unit credit method. The liabilities cor-
respond to the present value of the expected future 
cash flows. The plan assets are stated at market value. 
Current service costs incurred in the relevant period, 
less employee contributions, are stated as personnel 
expenses in the income statement. Past service costs 
resulting from changes in pension plans are posted di-
rectly to the income statement. Profits resulting from 
pension plan curtailments or settlements are immedi-
ately taken to the income statement.

Actuarial gains and losses are reported in the statement 
of comprehensive income under ‘Other comprehen-
sive income for the year, net of tax’, with due account 
being taken of deferred taxes.

Provisions
Provisions are recognized if the Group has a current le-
gal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be re-
quired to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 
of the amount can be made. No provisions are made 
for future operating losses. The provision is the best es-
timate on the reporting date of the amount required to 
meet the current obligation, taking into account the 
risks and uncertainties underlying the obligation.

Trade payables
Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are dis-
closed at nominal value.
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Income taxes
The Group is obliged to pay income taxes in various 
countries. Certain key assumptions are necessary in or-
der to determine income tax in the relevant countries. 
There are business events which have an impact on 
taxation and taxable profit. Hence, the amount of the 
final taxation cannot be determined definitively. The 
measurement of current tax liabilities is subject to the 
interpretation of tax regulations in the relevant coun-
tries. The adequacy of this interpretation is assessed by 
the tax authorities in the course of the final assessment 
or tax audits. This may result in material changes to tax 
expenses. Where the definitive taxation of these busi-
ness events deviates from the previous assumptions, 
this will have an impact on the current and deferred 
taxes in the period in which the taxation is definitively 
determined. Furthermore, determining whether tax 
losses carried forward can be capitalized requires a crit-
ical estimate of the probability that they can be offset 
against future profits. This assessment is based on plan-
ning information. Further information on this topic can 
be found in note 13 ‘Income taxes’.

Employee pension schemes
Various employee pension plans and schemes exist for 
employees of the Group. In the case of defined benefit 
plans, actuarial assumptions are made to estimate fu-
ture developments. These include assumptions and es-
timates relating to the discount rate, the inflation rate 
as well as assumptions for future wage trends. In their 
actuarial calculations for determining employee bene-
fit obligations, the actuaries also use statistical informa-
tion such as mortality tables and staff turnover rates. If 
these parameters change owing to a change in the 
economic situation or market conditions, the subse-
quent results may deviate considerably from the actu-
arial reports and calculations. These deviations may 
have a significant medium-term effect on expenses 
and income from the employee pension schemes and 
on the comprehensive income statement. Further in-
formation on this topic can be found in note 26 ‘Em-
ployee benefit obligations’.

Provisions
In the conduct of ordinary business activities, a liability 
of uncertain timing and/or amount may arise. Provi-
sions are determined using available information based 
on reasonably expected cash outflows. Claims against 
the Group may arise that may not be covered, or are 
covered only in part, by provisions or insurance bene-
fits. Further information on this topic can be found in 
note 27 ‘Provisions’.
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Standards

Standard/Interpretation   Date effective  
Planned  

Application

IFRS 15 (new) – ‘Revenue recognition’ * January 1, 2017 2017 business year

IFRS 9 (new) – ‘Financial instruments’ * January 1, 2018 2018 business year

* No significant impact on the consolidated financial statements  
is expected.

Moreover, various adjustments to the standards were 
published as part of the Annual Improvement Project 
that will be applied for the first time in the business 
year beginning on January 1, 2015. Since they have 
little impact on the financial statements, no detailed 
list of the changes is given.

The first-time application of the before-mentioned IAS 
standards had no effect on the Annual Report present-
ed here. 

The Forbo Group has not early adopted standards, in-
terpretations or amendments that have been pub-
lished but are not yet mandatory. 

Standards approved but not yet applied
The following new or revised standards and interpreta-
tions had been published, though they had not yet be-
come effective by the time the consolidated financial 
statements were approved by the Board of Directors. 
Since their impact on the consolidated financial state-
ments has not yet been systematically analyzed, the  
anticipated effects shown in the corresponding note  
to the table below represent an estimate by manage-
ment.

4 Application of new or revised  
accounting standards

Applied new and revised standards
The following new or revised standards and interpreta-
tions of the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB) were applied for the first time in the business 
year that began on January 1, 2014:

 – IAS 19 (revised) ‘Employee benefits:  
 employee contributions for  
 defined benefit plans’

 – IAS 32 (revised) ‘Financial instruments: offsetting’
 – IAS 36 (revised) ‘Recoverable amount disclosures’
 – IAS 39 (revised) ‘Novations of derivatives and  
 continuation of hedge accounting’

 – IFRIC 21 ‘Levies’
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plastic modular belts, and drive, timing and flat belts 
made of synthetic materials. Corporate includes the 
costs of the Group headquarters and certain items of 
income and expenses that are not directly attributable 
to a specific business.

The Flooring Systems and the Movement Systems di-
visions are reportable segments. The identification of 
the reportable segments is based on internal man-
agement reporting to the Executive Chairman of the 
Board of Directors and to the Chief Executive Officer of 
the Group and hence on the financial information 
used to review the performance of the operational 
units in order to reach a decision on the allocation of 
resources. 

Segment information on the reportable segments for 
the reporting year: 

5 Segment reporting

The Group is a global producer of Flooring Systems 
and Movement Systems. The divisions correspond to 
the internal management structure and are run sepa-
rately because the products they manufacture, distrib-
ute, and sell differ fundamentally in terms of produc-
tion, distribution, and marketing. 

In the Flooring Systems division, the Group develops, 
produces, and sells linoleum, vinyl floorings, entrance 
flooring systems, carpet tiles, needle felt floor cover-
ings, Flotex, the washable textile flooring, and build-
ing and construction adhesives as well as the various 
accessory products required for laying, processing, 
cleaning, and care of flooring. In the Movement Sys-
tems  division, the Group develops, produces, and sells 
high-quality conveyor and processing belts, as well as 

2014
 

CHF m
Flooring 
Systems

Movement 
Systems

Corporate/ 
Elimination

 
Total

Total net sales 884.7 342.2 – 0.1 1,226.8

Inter-segment sales – 0.1 – 0.0 0.1 0.0

Net sales to third parties 884.6 342.2 1,226.8

EBIT 123.4 37.0 – 11.0 149.4

Operating assets 563.7 222.6 17.2 803.5

Number of employees (December 31) 3,059 2,060 42 5,161

Notes

2013
 

CHF m
Flooring 
Systems

Movement 
Systems

Corporate/ 
Elimination

 
Total

Total net sales 873.5 326.2 – 0.0 1,199.7

Inter-segment sales – 0.0 – 0.0 0.0 0.0

Net sales to third parties 873.5 326.2 1,199.7

EBIT 113.3 31.7 – 9.3 135.7

Operating assets 552.6 206.8 29.0 788.4

Number of employees (December 31) 3,030 1,976 41 5,047

Segment information on the reportable segments for 
the prior year:
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Inter-segment sales are transacted at arm’s length. The 
segments apply the same accounting principles as the 
Group. Sales to third parties, as they are reported to 
the Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors and 
the Chief Executive Officer, are identical with the sales 
reported in the income statement. 

Reconciliation of segment results to the income state-
ment and balance sheet: 

The management reporting is based on the same ac-
counting principles as external reporting. 

The Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors and 
the Chief Executive Officer assess the performance of 
the reportable segments based on their operating re-
sult (EBIT). The net financial result is not allocated to 
the segments since it is Corporate Treasury that main-
ly exercises central control over the financial result. 

2014 2013

CHF m

Segment result (EBIT) 149.4 135.7
Financial result 4.9 5.2

Group profit before taxes 154.3 140.9

31.12.2014 31.12.2013

CHF m

Operating assets 803.5 788.4
Non-operating assets 292.1 338.6

Total assets 1,095.6 1,127.0
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7 Administrative costs

This item consists of the usual expenses related to ad-
ministrative activities. 

In the reporting year, no customer accounted for sales 
that exceeded 10% of the Group’s total sales. 

6 Development costs

‘Development costs’, which mainly comprise product 
development, amounted to CHF 16.5 million in the re-
porting year (2013: CHF 16.4 million). 

Costs for manufacturing trials, recipe optimization and 
new collections are not reported within ‘Development 
costs’. As in the previous year, no development costs 
were capitalized.

Third-party sales and operating assets broken down by 
region in the reporting year and the prior year: 

 2014 
Third-party sales

2013 
Third-party sales

CHF m

Switzerland (domicile) 28.7 27.5

France 163.6 167.4

Germany 144.8 141.7

Great Britain and Ireland 137.7 121.7

Benelux 124.9 129.5

Scandinavia 113.0 114.1

Eastern Europe 62.7 64.6

Southern Europe 57.4 53.2

Europe 832.8 819.7
North, Central, and South America 229.1 219.6
Asia/Pacific and Africa 164.9 160.4
Total net sales to third parties 1,226.8 1,199.7

 31.12.2014 
Operating assets

31.12.2013 
Operating assets

CHF m

Switzerland (domicile) 31.8 32.7

France 71.4 77.0

Germany 87.8 85.0

Great Britain and Ireland 167.3 161.8

Benelux 201.6 207.0

Scandinavia 25.6 26.3

Eastern Europe 19.8 22.8

Southern Europe 19.2 19.2

Europe 624.5 631.8
North, Central, and South America 97.7 83.9
Asia/Pacific and Africa 81.3 72.7
Total operating assets 803.5 788.4
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10 Personnel expenses

2014 2013

Personnel expenses
CHF m

Salaries and wages 287.4 278.9

Social security contributions 64.8 61.4

Employee benefit expenses for defined benefit plans 5.4 6.5

Total personnel expenses 357.6 346.8

As at December 31, 2014, the headcount was 5,161 
(2013: 5,047). The average headcount over the year 
was 5,141 (2013: 5,072). 

Salaries and wages include share-based payments  
expenses of CHF 4.2 million (2013: CHF 3.1 million). A 
bonus program is available for around 120 managers, 
which is linked to achieving financial targets set for  
the Group, the divisions, and individual objectives. 

11 Financial income

2014 2013

Financial income
CHF m

Interest income 0.6 0.8

Realized gains from financial instruments classified as being at fair value through profit and loss 1.9 3.2

Increase in fair value of financial instruments classified as being at fair value through profit and loss 3.4 6.9

Total financial income 5.9 10.9

The financial income in the year under review was 
due, as in the previous year, mainly to price gains and 
income from securities.

8 Other operating expenses

‘Other operating expenses’ comprises expenses of dif-
ferent kinds in connections with structural measures, 
legal costs, warranties, taxes on capital, and levies 
based on local legislation.

9 Other operating income

‘Other operating income’ comprises a range of income, 
mainly gains on sale of tangible assets, the release of 
provisions, insurance payments, rental income, and the 
sale of material for recycling purposes. 
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12 Financial expenses

2014 2013

Financial expenses
CHF m

Interest expenditure from financial liabilities valued at amortized cost 0.2 3.4

Amortization of issuance costs for private placement and bond 0.2

Foreign exchange losses, net 0.2 1.7

Other financial expense 0.6 0.4

Total financial expenses 1.0 5.7

Financial expenses in the previous year included inter-
est expense for the CHF 150 million bond issued on 
July 6, 2009, which fell due on July 31, 2013 and was 
repaid in full. In the year under review, the Group did 

2014 2013

Income taxes
CHF m

Current income taxes 29.6 32.1

Deferred income taxes 1.3 – 1.4

Total income taxes 30.9 30.7

not have any interest-bearing liabilities with the excep-
tion of some financial leasing arrangements. The aver-
age interest rate of the interest-bearing liabilities in the 
past year was 3.5% (2013: 4.1%). 

13 Income taxes
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Analysis of tax expense
The following reconciliation explains the difference 
between the expected and the effective tax expense.

2014 2013

CHF m

Group profit before taxes 154.3 140.9

Tax expense at the expected tax rate – 35.6 – 32.5
Tax effects of:

Non-tax-deductible expenses – 2.1 – 2.9

Tax-exempt income 3.8 1.1

Tax losses for which no deferred tax assets have been capitalized 2.8 2.0

Utilization of tax losses not capitalized in previous years 0.3 0.2

Previous-year and other positions – 0.1 1.4

Effective income tax expenses – 30.9 – 30.7

Since the Group operates in various countries with dif-
ferent tax laws and rates, the expected and effective 
tax expense depends every year on the origin of the 
revenues or losses in each country. The expected tax 
expense is the sum of the expected individual tax in-

come/expense of all subsidiaries. The expected indi-
vidual tax income/expense in a country is calculated 
by multiplying the individual profit/loss by the tax rate 
applicable in the country concerned. The expected tax 
rate in the year under review was 23.1% (2013: 23.1%). 
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Capitalized and non-capitalized tax loss carry for-
wards, by expiry date:

2014
CHF m Not capitalized Capitalized Total

Expiry after:

1 year 0.6 0.0 0.6

2 years 0.8 0.1 0.9

3 years 1.6 0.3 1.9

4 years 1.3 0.1 1.4

5 years 1.2 0.1 1.3

More than 5 years 103.4 35.4 138.8

Total tax loss carry forwards 108.9 36.0 144.9

2013
CHF m Not capitalized Capitalized Total

Expiry after:

1 year 0.2 1.9 2.1

2 years 0.4 0.4

3 years 0.3 0.3

4 years 1.8 1.8

5 years 1.4 0.4 1.8

More than 5 years 120.5 33.5 154.0

Total tax loss carry forwards 124.6 35.8 160.4

In 2014, no unused tax loss carry forwards expired 
(2013: CHF 0.5 Mio). 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset 
when they relate to the same tax jurisdiction, provided 

that the legal right to offset exists, and they are intend-
ed either to be settled net or to be realized simultane-
ously. The following amounts are shown in the balance 
sheet: 

31.12.2014 31.12.2013

CHF m

Deferred tax assets 37.2 29.3

Deferred tax liabilities – 26.5 – 20.0

Deferred tax assets, net 10.7 9.3
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities, tax credits, and tax 
charges from deferred taxes (gross): 

Deferred tax assets
 

 

CHF m Inventories

Property,  
plant, and  

equipment Provisions
Loss carry 
forwards

Employee 
benefit 

obligations Other Total

As at December 31, 2013 5.4 3.7 7.9 9.7 9.6 7.1 43.4
Increase/decrease (–) in deferred tax assets 1.6 – 0.1 – 2.8 – 0.1 6.4 1.0 6.0

As at December 31, 2014 7.0 3.6 5.1 9.6 16.0 8.1 49.4
Netting – 12.2

As at December 31, 2014, net 37.2

Deferred tax liabilities
 

 

CHF m Inventories

Property,  
plant, and  

equipment Provisions
Intangible 

assets

Employee 
benefit 

obligations Other Total

As at December 31, 2013 3.4 5.1 5.9 18.4 0.0 1.3 34.1
Increase in deferred  
tax liabilities

0.1 0.0 0.9 0.3 2.7 0.6 4.6

As at December 31, 2014 3.5 5.1 6.8 18.7 2.7 1.9 38.7
Netting – 12.2

As at December 31, 2014, net 26.5

Increase in deferred tax assets, net 1.4
Of which recognized in other  
comprehensive income

2.7

Of which recognized in the  
income statement

– 1.3

As at December 31, 2014, no deferred tax liabilities on 
undistributed profits from consolidated companies 
have been recognized, since this income is deemed to 
have been reinvested for an indefinite period. Should 
there be a distribution, withholding and other taxes 

might be incurred, which upon decision may be pro-
vided for accordingly. 

Tax expense and income recognized directly in the 
other comprehensive income statement: 

2014 2013

Before tax Tax income After tax Before tax Tax expense (–) After taxCHF m

Actuarial losses (–)/gains on pension obligations – 8.9 2.7 – 6.2 1.3 – 0.4 0.9

Translation differences 0.6 0.0 0.6 – 7.4 – 0.8 – 8.2

Other comprehensive income – 8.3 2.7 – 5.6 – 6.1 – 1.2 – 7.3
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14 Earnings per share

Undiluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing 
the net profit or loss for the year attributable to regis-
tered shareholders by the weighted average number 
of registered shares issued and outstanding during the 
year, less the average number of treasury shares.

The figure for diluted earnings per share also takes into 
account the potential dilution effects if all issued and 
in-the-money share options were to be exercised. 

The calculations are based on the following informa-
tion:

2014 2013

Group profit for the year from continuing operations 123.4 110.2

Group profit for the year from discontinued operations after taxes 123.6 117.6

Weighted average number of shares 1,992,635 2,070,986

Amount of shares adjusted for stock option plans 2,915 734

Weighted average number of shares used to calculate diluted earnings per share 1,995,550 2,071,720
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Cost on acquisition 

Land and 
buildings

Machinery 
and  

equipment

Other  
property, 

plant, and 
equipment

Assets  
under 

construction

Total  
property, 

plant, and 
equipmentCHF m

As at December 31, 2012 127.7 676.1 124.0 11.2 939.0
Acquisition 0.1 0.1

Additions 1.8 7.5 2.2 22.9 34.4

Disposals – 1.9 – 9.3 – 2.2 – 13.4

Transfers 6.9 16.5 3.1 – 26.5 0.0

Translation differences – 3.0 1.1 – 0.3 0.2 – 2.0

As at December 31, 2013 131.5 692.0 126.8 7.8 958.1
Acquisition

Additions 1.1 7.3 2.2 28.7 39.3

Disposals – 5.1 – 4.3 – 1.8 – 1.6 – 12.8

Transfers 2.0 12.3 2.9 – 17.2 0.0

Translation differences – 2.1 – 5.8 – 1.2 – 0.4 – 9.5

As at December 31, 2014 127.4 701.5 128.9 17.3 975.1

Accumulated depreciation and impairments 

Land and 
buildings

Machinery 
and  

equipment

Other  
property, 

plant, and 
equipment

Assets  
under 

construction

Total  
property, 

plant, and 
equipmentCHF m

As at December 31, 2012 9.9 581.2 112.5 1.6 705.2
Depreciation 6.9 21.7 4.7 33.3

Disposals – 0.7 – 9.0 – 2.1 – 11.8

Transfers – 0.4 0.4 0.0

Translation differences – 1.9 0.9 0.1 – 0.9

As at December 31, 2013 13.8 594.8 115.6 1.6 725.8
Depreciation 7.3 21.0 4.5 32.8

Disposals – 4.4 – 4.1 – 1.7 – 1.6 – 11.8

Transfers 0.4 – 0.4 0.0

Translation differences – 1.0 – 4.3 – 1.3 – 6.6

As at December 31, 2014 16.1 607.0 117.1 0.0 740.2

Net carrying amount
As at December 31, 2013 117.7 97.2 11.2 6.2 232.3

As at December 31, 2014 111.3 94.5 11.8 17.3 234.9

15 Property, plant, and equipment 
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As at December 31, 2014 there were no assets for 
which interest on borrowed capital was capitalized 
during the preparation phase. 

As at December 31, 2014 the Group had outstanding 
purchase orders for capital goods amounting to CHF 
15.4 million (2013: CHF 0.4 million). 

The insured value of the insurance for buildings, ma-
chinery, equipment, and inventories was CHF 1,694.1 
million (2013: CHF 1,718.8 million).

Property, plant, and equipment is recognized at amor-
tized cost. As in the previous year, no impairments oc-
curred in the year under review. 

Maintenance and repair costs amounted to CHF 22.6 
million (2013: CHF 20.1 million). The depreciation ex-
pense of CHF 32.8 million (2013: CHF 33.3 million) is 
included in the items ‘Cost of goods sold’, ‘Devel-
opment costs’, ‘Marketing and distribution costs’, and  
‘Administrative costs’. 

Property, plant, and equipment also includes leased 
assets with a net book value of CHF 1.4 million (2013: 
CHF 1.4 million). The leasing liability for fixed assets car-
ried in the balance sheet amounts to CHF 1.5 million 
(2013: CHF 1.4 million). 
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relatively constant EBITDA margins are assumed, which 
are around 17% for Flooring Systems and around 13% 
for Movement Systems. The discount rate corresponds 
to the total weighted cost of capital before taxes in-
cluding an average risk charge estimated by manage-
ment, which lies between 9.5% and 12.3% (2013: be-
tween 9.8% and 12.7%). The intangible assets with an 
indefinite useful life were also subject to impairment 
testing in the form of sensitivity analyses. 

16 Intangible assets

Cost on acquisition
Goodwill Trademarks

Other  
intangible assets TotalCHF m

As at December 31, 2012 92.2 34.0 86.6 212.8
Additions 0.2 0.2

Disposals

Translation differences 0.5 – 0.1 – 0.3 0.1

As at December 31, 2013 92.7 33.9 86.5 213.1
Additions 0.2 0.2

Disposals – 2.9 – 2.9

Translation differences – 1.1 0.4 3.1 2.4

As at December 31, 2014 91.6 34.3 86.9 212.8

Accumulated amortization and impairments
Goodwill Trademarks

Other  
intangible assets TotalCHF m

As at December 31, 2012 9.6 25.8 28.2 63.6
Amortization 3.1 3.1

Disposals

Translation differences 0.1 0.0 – 0.1 0.0

As at December 31, 2013 9.7 25.8 31.2 66.7
Amortization 2.9 2.9

Disposals – 2.9 – 2.9

Translation differences – 0.2 0.0 0.2 0.0

As at December 31, 2014 9.5 25.8 31.4 66.7

Net carrying amount
As at December 31, 2013 83.0 8.1 55.3 146.4

As at December 31, 2014 82.1 8.5 55.5 146.1

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life (goodwill 
and trademarks) are subject to an annual impairment 
test at cash-generating unit level. The test is carried out 
using a standardized method with discounted cash 
flow for calculating the value in use. Cash flow for the 
first five years is estimated on the basis of the plan ap-
proved by management (detailed planning period). 
Cash flows beyond the detailed planning period are ex-
trapolated to the terminal value by means of using sus-
tainable earnings. During the detailed planning period, 
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The goodwill in Flooring Systems as at December 31, 
2014, comprises primarily the goodwill acquired in 
connection with the acquisition of Bonar Floors in 
2008. The item ‘Trademarks’ includes mainly the trade-
marks acquired as part of the acquisition of Bonar 
Floors. ‘Other intangible assets’ consists mainly of the 

31.12.2014 31.12.2013

Flooring Systems 78.1 79.0

Movement Systems 4.0 4.0

82.1 83.0

17 Investments in associates and  
other non-current assets

31.12.2014 31.12.2013

Investments in associates and other non-current assets
CHF m

Investments in associates 0.0 0.0

Other non-current financial assets 0.3 0.2

Total investments in associates and other non-current assets 0.3 0.2

The impairment tests conducted in connection with 
trademarks are based on the sales turnover achieved 
with these trademarks. The relief from royalty method 
was used, in which the economic benefit of the trade-
mark holder is determined by means of the discount-
ed royalty savings. The cash flow forecasts during the 

detailed planning period are based on expected royal-
ty savings of between 1% and 2% of net sales. In the 
year under review, no impairment was determined. 

Goodwill is distributed among the following groups of 
cash-generating units: 

customer relations and technologies as part of the ac-
quisition of Bonar Floors, as well as acquired software. 

The annual impairment test of goodwill yielded a value 
in use that was greater than the carrying amount. 
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allowances. A specific valuation allowance is required if 
the debtor is unable to pay, if the debt has been past 
due for more than 90 days, or if the debtor has given 
notice of payment difficulties. Valuation allowances 
take due account of default risks. 

19 Trade receivables

As a rule, no default interest is charged for receivables 
past due. As at the reporting date, there was no indica-
tion that debtors would fail to meet their payment ob-
ligations in respect of trade receivables for which no 
allowance was made or which were past due. Valuation 
allowances are made in the form of specific valuation 

31.12.2014 31.12.2013

Trade receivables
CHF m

Accounts receivable 139.9 135.9

Notes receivable 17.3 20.0

Allowance for doubtful trade receivables – 6.6 – 7.1

Total trade receivables 150.6 148.8

31.12.2014 31.12.2013

Inventories
CHF m

Raw materials and supplies 44.0 39.8

Work in progress 75.0 67.7

Finished goods 139.5 135.5

Valuation allowance for inventories – 27.9 – 29.6

Total inventories 230.6 213.4

18 Inventories

Valuation allowances for inventories amounted to CHF 
27.9 million (2013: CHF 29.6 million). 

Expenses for inventories recognized in the reporting 
year came to CHF 496.7 million (2013: CHF 480.8 mil-
lion).
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31.12.2014 31.12.2013

CHF m

Total trade receivables, gross 157.2 155.9
Of which not due 137.0 134.0

Of which past due for:

Less than 30 days 8.7 10.7

Between 31 and 90 days 6.2 5.6

Between 91 and 180 days 3.7 2.9

Between 181 days and 1 year 1.3 2.0

Over 1 year 0.3 0.7

Allowance for doubtful trade receivables – 6.6 – 7.1

Total trade receivables 150.6 148.8

Of the total of CHF 20.2 million in trade receivables 
past due as at December 31, 2014 (2013: CHF 21.9 mil-
lion), CHF 14.8 million (2013: CHF 16.3 million) were 
not subjected to a valuation allowance. Overall, valu-

Gross value of trade receivables by currency:

31.12.2014 31.12.2013

CHF m

CHF 1.9 1.6

EUR 74.8 76.6

USD 18.4 15.9

GBP 16.2 14.4

JPY 12.6 12.5

CNY 8.7 9.0

SEK 5.5 5.8

Other 19.1 20.1

Total trade receivables, gross 157.2 155.9

Changes in valuation allowances for doubtful trade re-
ceivables during the reporting year:

2014 2013

CHF m

As at January 1 – 7.1 – 7.0
Additions – 1.3 – 1.5

Release 0.7 0.6

Use 1.2 0.6

Translation differences – 0.1 0.2

As at December 31 – 6.6 – 7.1

Trade receivables recognized as at the balance sheet 
date:

ation allowances of CHF 6.6 million (2013: CHF 7.1 mil-
lion) were made for receivables with a nominal value 
of CHF 24.4 million (2013: CHF 25.2  million).
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21 Cash

23 Share capital

As at December 31, 2014, the share capital of Forbo 
Holding Ltd stood at CHF 215,000 (2013: CHF 225,000), 
divided into 2,150,000 registered shares with a par val-
ue of CHF 0.10 each. Thereof 21,419 registered shares 
without voting or dividend rights are at the disposal of 
the Board of Directors. Consequently, 2,128,581 regis-
tered shares were eligible for dividends as at December 
31, 2014.

Change of shares issued and outstanding: 

31.12.2014 31.12.2013

Cash and cash equivalents
CHF m

Petty cash 0.1 0.1

Bank accounts 160.7 215.7

Short-term deposits with banks 44.3 25.2

Total cash and cash equivalents 205.1 241.0

The change in cash and cash equivalents can be found 
in the consolidated cash flow statement.

22 Pledged or assigned assets

There were no significant pledged or assigned assets. 

31.12.2014 Change 31.12.2013

Number Number Number

Total shares outstanding 2,150,000 – 100,000 2,250,000
Treasury shares
Shares with dividend rights:

Treasury shares 81,264 – 15,144 96,408

Share buyback programs 158,467 58,997 99,470

Own shares with no dividend rights 21,419 21,419

Total treasury shares 261,150 43,853 217,297
Total shares issued and outstanding 1,888,850 – 143,853 2,032,703

At the Ordinary General Meeting of Forbo Holding Ltd 
held on April 25, 2014, the shareholders approved a 
capital reduction from CHF 225,000 to CHF 215,000 by 
cancellation of the shares acquired in connection with 
the share buyback program approved at the Ordinary 
General Meeting on November 5, 2012, and the corre-
sponding amendment to the Articles of Association. 
Following the legally mandatory notice to creditors, 
the capital reduction was entered in the Commercial 

Register on July 4, 2014. The Board of Directors was fur-
thermore authorized to buy back the company’s own 
shares, over a period of three years, for the purpose of 
subsequent cancellation of the share certificates, up to 
a maximum of 10% of the share capital. In the frame-
work of this new share buyback program approved at 
the Ordinary general meeting of Forbo Holding Ltd on 
April 25, 2014, 158,467 shares had been repurchased by 
the end of the year under review. 

Allowances of CHF 2.0 million were made for trade re-
ceivables not yet due and of CHF 4.6 million for trade 
receivables past due. 

The creation and release of allowances for doubtful 
trade receivables are included in ‘Other operating ex-
pense and income’ in the income statement. 

20 Other current financial instruments

The item ‘Other current financial instruments’ contains 
securities (stocks and funds). As explained in note 33 
‘Additional information on financial instruments’, this 
position is valued on the basis of listed market prices. 
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2014 2013

 Weighted 
average 

strike price 
in CHF

Number  
of options

Weighted 
average 

strike price 
in CHF

Number  
of options

Options outstanding as at January 1 674 22,088 675 31,744 
Granted

Exercised 714 – 13,041 435 – 3,612 

Expired 822 – 6,044 

Options outstanding as at December 31 616 9,047 674 22,088 

Of the 9,047 (2013: 22,088) options outstanding, none 
are exercisable as at December 31, 2014 (2013: 847). 
The exercise of 13,041 (2013: 3,612) options resulted in 
the issue of 13,041 (2013: 3,612) Forbo Holding shares 

at a weighted average issue price of CHF 714 (2013: 
CHF 435). The weighted average share price on the ex-
ercise days was CHF 945 (2013: CHF 625). 

24 Employee participation plan

Variable compensation for the Executive Board is linked 
with the Management Investment Plan (MIP), which 
was introduced in 2006 and amended in 2012. The 
members of the Board of Directors do not participate 
in the MIP. According to this plan, at least 50% of the 
annual variable remuneration of Executive Board mem-
bers is paid into the MIP. As for the remaining 50% of 
the annual variable remuneration, the Executive Board 
members may either draw all or part of it in cash or pay 
it into the MIP. They may redefine the allocation of this 
remaining 50% every year anew.

Under the previous plan until 2012, 25% of the pay-
ments were invested in options and 75% in shares of 
Forbo Holding Ltd. The shares and options were sub-
ject to a three year lock-up period and the term of the 
options was five years. The options issued in connec-
tion with the MIP come to maturity on April 21, 2017, at 
the latest. Following the amendment of the MIP, all the 

sums paid into it will be invested only in shares of Forbo 
Holding Ltd as of January 1, 2013 and no longer in op-
tions. These shares, too, are subject to a three year lock-
up period. The shares and options issued under the MIP 
are equity-settled. The share-based portion of the vari-
able compensation is recognized at fair value, offset by 
equity instruments and entered as a corresponding in-
crease in equity. The shares that are distributed under 
the MIP are issued at the unweighted average closing 
price of the Forbo share for the first 14 trading days in 
January of the year in which they are distributed. The 
options until 2012 were issued on the basis of a valua-
tion by an independent bank, whereby the valuation 
was based on the average market price of the shares  
in the first 14 trading days in January of the respective 
year. 

Options
Change in the number of outstanding options and 
their weighted average strike price:



126 FORBO ANNUAL REPORT 2014 – CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Information on the outstanding options as at Decem-
ber 31, 2014:

Strike price 
(CHF)

Number of 
outstanding 

options

Average 
remaining 

term (years)

Number of 
exercisable 

options

 

Series

2012 616 9,047 2.3 0 

Total options outstanding 9,047

Shares
In the year under review, 1,373 shares of Forbo Holding 
Ltd were issued under the MIP (2013: 368). A further 
440 shares were allocated to Executive Board members 
in the reporting year as part of base remuneration 
(2013: 112). The share price at valuation date was CHF 
760 (2013: CHF 606). 

The Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors is 
compensated primarily with shares. The detailed infor-
mation and figures for this compensation model can 
be found on pages 140 and 141 of this financial report 
and on pages 79 and 80 of the remuneration report. 

The number of shares with a three-year lock-up period 
allocated to the non-executive members of the Board 
of Directors came to 290 in the reporting year (2013: 
627).
 
In the year under review, the amount charged to the 
income statement in application of IFRS 2 for shares 
issued came to CHF 4.2 million (2013: CHF 3.1 million). 
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The item ‘Non-current financial debt’ now contains only 
financial leasing liabilities.

At year-end one derivative financial instrument con-
tract was open. The hedged gross value was CHF 12.0 
million, and the fair value was CHF 0.0 million.

31.12.2014 31.12.2013

CHF m

Bank debt

Lease obligations 1.5 1.3

Less current portion – 0.1 – 0.1

Total non-current financial debt 1.4 1.2

31.12.2014 31.12.2013

Maturities of non-current financial debt
CHF m

After 1 year 0.1 0.1

After 2 years 0.1 0.1

After 3 years 0.3 0.2

5+ years 0.9 0.8

Total non-current financial debt 1.4 1.2

25 Non-current financial debt 
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The pension plan follows an investment strategy that is 
geared to the structure of the pension liabilities (LDI – 
liability-driven investment approach). The core ele-
ments of this strategy are: 

 – Hedging of liabilities: 60% of the assets of the fund 
are held in physical form in corporate bonds and a 
further 10% in funds geared to the pension liabilities. 
This approach hedges a substantial portion of inter-
est rate and inflation risks. The target hedge ratio is 
80% of the assets held by the FSF. 

 – Return-seeking assets: 30% of the assets of the FSF 
are held in the form of diversified growth investment 
funds.

The use of any surplus is not subject to any restriction 
under the FSF’s articles of incorporation and may be 
used freely by the Group. These surpluses are therefore 
recognized in the balance sheet as assets in accord-
ance with IAS 19 revised. 

Switzerland
The Group pays contributions to an independent pen-
sion fund as part of the occupational pension provision 
(known in Switzerland as the ‘second pillar’). As a mini-
mum benefit, this independent pension fund must 
provide the beneficiary with an old-age pension at the 
time of retirement. This pension is paid out of the retire-
ment savings capital at the start of the pension. The 
Group meets these liabilities through agreements with 
pension funds that cover the pension liabilities in full. 

The pension liabilities of the Swiss Group companies 
account for about 17% of the Group’s entire pension 
liabilities. 96% of the liabilities are to active members 
and 4% to retired beneficiaries.

The Swiss pension system includes guarantees that ex-
pose the company to the risk that it may have to pro-
vide additional financing. Such a situation may occur, 
for instance, if the pension fund is unable to meet its 
obligations or decides to end the insurance relation-
ship. The pension fund guarantees a minimum return 
and is responsible for the payment of a pension for life 
once the insurance benefits fall due. As a result of these 
guarantees, Swiss pension plans are treated as defined 
benefit plans under IFRS, even though they contain es-
sential elements of defined contribution plans. 

26 Employee benefit obligations

The Group has established several pension plans on 
the basis of the specific requirements of the countries 
in which it operates. Both defined contribution and  
defined benefit plans exist in the Group that insure  
employees against the risks of death and invalidity and 
provide old-age pensions.

The liabilities and assets under the main defined bene-
fit plans are assessed annually by independent actuar-
ies using the projected unit credit method. 

Pension plans in the United Kingdom
The Group has two defined benefit pension plans in 
the United Kingdom. The main one is the Forbo Super-
annuation Fund (the FSF), which accounts for about 
63% of the Group’s total pension liabilities. The FSF is a 
pension plan whose benefits are based on the final sal-
ary and which pays out a guaranteed pension for life  
to its members. The FSF is closed to new entrants, but 
benefits continue to accrue for a small number of exist-
ing members. The composition of the pension liabilities 
is as follows: 4% to active employees, 37% to deferred 
members and 59% to current beneficiaries. New em-
ployees in the United Kingdom who meet certain cri-
teria are now offered a defined contribution plan.

The FSF operates under trust law and is managed and 
administered by the trustees on behalf of the mem-
bers in accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed 
and Rules and relevant legislation. The FSF’s assets are 
held by the trust. Responsibility for governance of the 
FSF – including investment decisions and contribution 
schedules – lies jointly with the company and the trus-
tees. The board of the trustees must be composed of 
representatives of the company and plan participants 
in accordance with the FSF’s regulations and British 
pension law. 
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2014 2013

Actuarial assumptions
Switzer-

land UK Other Weighted
Switzer-

land UK Other Weighted

Discount rate (in %) 1.1 3.7 2.1 3.0 2.4 4.3 3.1 3.8

Future increases in salaries (in %) 1.7 4.0 2.7 2.4 2.0 4.2 2.6 3.6

Inflation rate (in %) 1.2 3.3 1.7 2.8 1.5 3.5 1.6 2.9

Life expectancy at age of 65 (in years)

Year of birth 1949

Men 22 22 19 21 22 19

Women 24 24 23 24 24 23

Year of birth 1964

Men 23 23 21 23 23 21

Women 25 26 24 25 26 24

The company cannot participate in any surplus of the 
pension plan. According to Swiss pension law, all sur-
pluses belong to the pension plan and hence to its 
members. 

Others
The Group has a number of other, smaller defined con-
tribution and defined benefit plans in other countries, 
in accordance with the legal provisions for employees. 
The main plans exist in France, Germany, Japan, Nor-
way, Sweden, and the USA. 

The latest actuarial valuations of the present values of 
defined benefit liabilities and of service costs were per-
formed as at December 31, 2014, by independent ac-
tuaries using the projected unit credit method. The fair 
value of the plan assets was determined as at Decem-
ber 31, 2014, based on the information available when 
the annual financial statements were prepared. The 
average duration of the pension plans until payment  
of benefits (plan duration) is 14.5 years for the United 
Kingdom, 18.4 years for Switzerland, and 16.5 years for 
the other countries. 

The principal assumptions underlying the actuarial cal-
culations are summarized as follows. 
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Changes in pension liabilities under the defined bene-
fit plans:

2014 2013

Benefit obligations
Switzerland UK Other Total Switzerland UK Other TotalCHF m

As at January 1 50.6 221.2 48.2 320.0 59.0 222.7 48.7 330.4
Current service cost 1.3 0.6 2.1 4.0 2.5 0.6 2.3 5.4

Employee contributions 1.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 1.0 0.0 0.0 1.0

Interest costs 1.2 9.6 1.4 12.2 1.2 9.2 1.3 11.7

Benefits paid – 3.2 – 10.4 – 2.1 – 15.7 – 8.5 – 9.6 – 2.0 – 20.1

Actuarial losses/gains (–) 11.1 16.8 10.1 38.0 – 4.6 – 1.1 – 1.4 – 7.1

Translation differences 9.7 – 1.6 8.1 – 0.6 – 0.7 – 1.3

As at December 31 62.0 247.5 58.1 367.6 50.6 221.2 48.2 320.0

Pension costs for defined benefit plans:

2014 2013

Pension costs
Switzerland UK Other Total Switzerland UK Other TotalCHF m

Current service cost 1.3 0.6 2.1 4.0 2.5 0.6 2.3 5.4

Interest costs 1.2 9.6 1.4 12.2 1.2 9.2 1.3 11.7

Interest income on plan assets – 1.0 – 9.5 – 0.3 – 10.8 – 0.9 – 9.4 – 0.3 – 10.6

Total actuarial net periodic  
pension costs

1.5 0.7 3.2 5.4 2.8 0.4 3.3 6.5

The amounts reported in the consolidated income 
statement and in equity can be summarized as follows. 
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Most of the pension plans are financed in full or in part 
via outsourced funds. Pension liabilities amounting to 
CHF 37.0 million (2013: CHF 32.1 million) out of a total 
of CHF 367.6 million (2013: CHF 320.0 million) are un-
funded. 

Changes in plan assets of the defined benefit plans at 
fair value: 

2014 2013

Plan assets
Switzerland UK Other Total Switzerland UK Other TotalCHF m

As at January 1 40.9 219.5 7.8 268.2 46.0 226.1 7.2 279.3
Interest income on plan assets 1.0 9.5 0.3 10.8 0.9 9.4 0.3 10.6

Employer contributions 1.7 0.1 2.2 4.0 1.7 0.1 2.0 3.8

Employee contributions 1.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 1.0 0.0 0.0 1.0

Return on pension assets (exclud-
ing amounts in interest income)

– 0.1 29.3 – 0.1 29.1 – 0.2 – 5.9 0.3 – 5.8

Benefits paid – 3.2 – 10.4 – 2.1 – 15.7 – 8.5 – 9.6 – 2.0 – 20.1

Translation differences 9.9 – 0.2 9.7 – 0.6 – 0.6

As at December 31 41.3 257.9 7.9 307.1 40.9 219.5 7.8 268.2

In the reporting period there were no plan curtail-
ments or settlements. There were also no changes oc-
curring as a result of changes to the scope of consoli-
dation.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in the bal-
ance sheet under ‘Pension liabilities’ and accounted for 
directly in the other comprehensive income. 
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2014 2013

Recognized gains and losses
Switzerland UK Other Total Switzerland UK Other TotalCHF m

Actuarial losses (–)/gains in  
the current period:

– 10.5 – 16.8 – 9.7 – 37.0 5.1 – 6.7 0.7 – 0.9

Based on adjustment of  
demographic assumptions

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.5 – 0.2 1.3

Based on adjustment of  
economic assumptions

– 10.5 – 16.8 – 9.7 – 37.0 3.6 – 6.7 0.9 – 2.2

Experience adjustment – 0.6 0.0 – 0.1 – 0.7 – 0.5 7.8 0.7 8.0

Return on pension assets (exclud-
ing amounts in interest income)

– 0.1 29.3 – 0.4 28.8 – 0.2 – 5.9 0.3 – 5.8

Total losses (–)/gains recognized 
in the comprehensive income 
statement

– 11.2 12.5 – 10.2 – 8.9 4.4 – 4.8 1.7 1.3

Gains and losses of defined benefit pension plans off-
set in the comprehensive income statement for all di-
visions:

Changes in the net liabilities of defined benefit plans 
recognized in the balance sheet:

2014 2013

Net liabilities
Switzerland UK Other Total Switzerland UK Other TotalCHF m

As at January 1 9.7 1.7 40.4 51.8 13.0 – 3.4 41.5 51.1
Pension income 1.5 0.7 3.2 5.4 2.8 0.4 3.3 6.5

Employer contributions – 1.7 – 0.1 – 2.2 – 4.0 – 1.7 – 0.1 – 2.0 – 3.8

Actuarial losses/gains (–) 11.2 – 12.5 10.2 8.9 – 4.4 4.8 – 1.7 – 1.3

Translation differences – 0.2 – 1.4 – 1.6 0.0 – 0.7 – 0.7

Net liabilities as at December 31 20.7 – 10.4 50.2 60.5 9.7 1.7 40.4 51.8
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+ 0.5% – 0.5%

Sensitivities
Switzerland UK Other Switzerland UK OtherCHF m

Discount rate – 5.6 – 17.2 – 4.4 6.2 18.6 5.0

Rate of salary increase 1.8 0.5 3.0 – 1.7 – 0.5 – 2.4

Inflation rate 1.4 9.1 4.0 – 1.3 – 8.4 – 3.6

Interest credits on retirement assets 1.3 – 1.3

Weighted average asset allocation of the defined ben-
efit plan assets as at December 31: 

2014 2013

%

Shares 2.4 2.2

Bonds 60.7 56.8

Real estate 0.1 0.2

Cash and other investments 36.8 40.8

Total plan assets as at December 31 100.0 100.0

Cash and other investments amounting to 36.8% con-
sist of listed investments (23.4%) and unlisted invest-
ments (13.4%). The shares, bonds, and real estate are all 
listed investments. The plan assets do not include any 
shares or other securities of the Forbo Group. 

Future contributions to defined benefit plans are esti-
mated in the following year on the basis of the period 
under review. 

The expense for the contributions to defined contribu-
tion plans, which is included in personnel expenses, 
amounted to CHF 10.2 million in 2014 (2013: CHF 10.2 
million). 

Other non-current benefits
The Group does not finance any other non-current 
benefits. The plans for long-service bonuses and other 
benefits related to years of service are negligible or do 
not qualify as plans for other non-current benefits. 

Change in the present value of defined benefit liabili-
ties:

The above table describes the effect of the principal 
actuarial assumptions on pension liabilities. The table 
shows the effect of an isolated change of a single pa-
rameter, assuming that all other parameters remain un-
changed. The table illustrates the overall effect for each 
region. However, sensitivities may differ for individual 
plans within the regions. Sensitivity analysis aims to 
 visualize the uncertainty in valuating pension liabilities 
under market conditions at the date of valuation. The 

results cannot be extrapolated owing to possible 
non-linear effects in the event of changes to the actu-
arial assumptions. Moreover, the analysis cannot say 
 anything about the likelihood of these changes occur-
ring, nor can it present the view of the Group regarding 
 anticipated future changes in pension liabilities. Any 
measures taken by management to reduce the risks 
 inherent in pension liabilities are also not taken into 
 account in the analysis.
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Warranty provisions are linked to product sales and  
are based on past experience. The provisions for legal 
claims relate mainly to product liability claims in which 
the Group is involved in the course of its normal busi-
ness. The personnel provisions include in particular the 
bonus programs, provisions for paid leave, and poten-
tial labor law issues. 

Of the original provision of CHF 21.0 million in connec-
tion with the sale of the industrial adhesives activity, 
including synthetic polymers, CHF 10.0 million was re-
leased in the previous year owing to the expiry of war-
ranty deadlines: CHF 3.0 million for legal claims, CHF 3.0 
million for personnel and CHF 4.0 million for other. The 
remaining provisions of CHF 11.0 million are kept un-
changed for anticipated cash outflows in connection 
with risks in the areas of environmental (CHF 7.0 mil-
lion), legal claims (CHF 3.0 million) and other (CHF 1.0 
million).

27 Provisions

Provisions 

Warranty 
provisions

Environmental 
provisions

Provisions  
for legal  

claims
Personnel 
provisions

Other 
provisions

Total 
2014

Total 
2013CHF m

As at January 1 2.3 12.1 13.9 12.0 3.1 43.4 52.2
Additions 1.7 3.6 3.8 2.4 11.5 8.4

Used during the year – 0.9 0.0 – 1.9 – 0.3 – 3.1 – 4.7

Reversed during the year – 0.1 – 5.5 – 2.5 – 1.3 – 9.4 – 12.5

Translation differences – 0.1 – 0.1 – 0.1 – 0.1 0.0 – 0.4 0.0

As at December 31 2.9 12.0 11.9 11.3 3.9 42.0 43.4

Of which current provisions 2.3 0.0 1.5 11.3 2.7 17.8 17.3

Of which non-current provisions 0.6 12.0 10.4 0.0 1.2 24.2 26.1
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31.12.2014 31.12.2013

Accrued expenses
CHF m

Accrued expenses for compensation and employee benefits 35.4 36.1

Other accrued expenses 55.0 52.4

Total accrued expenses 90.4 88.5

28 Accrued expenses

Accrued expenses for compensation and employee 
benefits mainly comprise overtime accruals and com-
missions. Other accrued expenses include accrued vol-

29 Current financial debt

31.12.2014 31.12.2013

Current financial debt
CHF m

Current bank loans and overdrafts 0.5 0.6

Current portion of non-current debt 0.1 0.1

Total current financial debt 0.6 0.7

ume rebates, commissions, premiums, interest and 
goods and services received but not yet invoiced. 
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30 Discontinued operations and assets 
held for sale as well as liabilities directly 
associated with assets held for sale

The Group signed a contract with H.B. Fuller Company 
on December 21, 2011, regarding the sale of its indus-
trial adhesives business, including synthetic polymers, 
belonging to the former Bonding Systems division. The 
sale price was CHF 384.7 million. On fulfillment of all 
conditions, the transaction was successfully closed on 
March 5, 2012. 

In the year under review, the Group received CHF 0.3 
million from H.B. Fuller for the result in the short fiscal 
year 2012 because a control and profit and loss transfer 
agreement was still in effect in Germany for this period.

Owing to the release of provisions that had been ac-
crued for risks in connection with the sale of the indus-
trial adhesives activity, including synthetic polymers 
(see note 27 ‘Provisions’), a profit of CHF 10.0 million 
before tax, or CHF 7.4 million after tax, was generated 
in the previous year from the sale of the discontinued 
operations.

Group profit from discontinued operations:

2014 2013

CHF m

Net sales 0.0 0.0
Cost of goods sold 0.0 0.0

Gross profit 0.0 0.0
Other functional costs and other operating expenses 0.0 0.0

Operating profit 0.0 0.0

Profit before taxes 0.0 0.0

Related income taxes 0.0 0.0

Profit after taxes 0.0 0.0
Profit from the sale of the discontinued operations before taxes 0.3 10.0
Related income taxes – 0.1 – 2.6

Profit from the sale of the discontinued operations after taxes 0.2 7.4
Group profit from discontinued operations 0.2 7.4
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33 Additional information on  
financial instruments

Financial instruments that are valued at fair value are 
classified in a three-level hierarchy as follows:

 – Level 1: listed market prices in an active market for 
identical assets and liabilities. 

 – Level 2: input factors other than market prices in-
cluded in level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. 
derived from prices).

 – Level 3: input factors for the asset or liability that are 
not based on observable market data (non-observa-
ble inputs). 

 – The Group held the following financial instruments 
on the balance sheet date: there were no financial 
instruments in the fair value hierarchy level 3 nor 
was there any regrouping between the levels of  
the fair-value hierarchy. There were also no non-re-
curring fair-value measurements of financial instru-
ments. The financial instruments held at the balance 
sheet date fall into the following categories: 

The ‘Contingent liabilities’ shown in the table refer to 
sureties and guarantees in favor of third parties.

Furthermore, as announced in a media release on July 
3, 2013, the activity of Flooring Systems in France is 
being investigated by the French competition author-

2014 2013

Leasing
CHF m

Operating leasing liabilities:

Up to 1 year 9.8 8.1

2 – 5 years 22.3 15.4

More than 5 years 6.4 3.2

Total operating leasing liabilities 38.5 26.7

Expenses for operating leasing and rentals charged to 
the 2014 income statement totaled CHF 20.6 million 
(2013: CHF 21.4 million). The Group has no individual-
ly significant operating leasing contracts. 

Operating leasing liabilities increased compared with 
the previous year owing to adjustments to leasing 
agreements.

The liabilities arising from financial leasing are con-
tained in the item ‘Non-current financial debt’. 

31.12.2014 31.12.2013

CHF m

Contingent liabilities 0.3 0.6

31 Contingent liabilities

ities. The investigation affects the flooring market in 
France and was instituted on suspicion of anti-com-
petitive practices by leading manufacturers. As the in-
vestigation is ongoing, the Group is unable to provide 
any further information at present or estimate the pos-
sible repercussions.

32 Leasing
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As at  
December 31, 2014 Level 1 Level 2

Fair-value measurement of financial instruments  
using the method of the fair-value hierarchy

Listed market prices
Significant other  

observable input factorsCHF m

Assets
Financial instruments valued at amortized cost:

Trade receivables and other receivables 174.6

Cash and cash equivalents 205.1

Financial instruments valued at fair value:

Other current financial instruments 49.5 49.5

Derivative financial instruments 0.0

Total 429.2 49.5

CHF m

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
Financial instruments valued at amortized cost:

Interest-bearing debt 1.5

Trade payables and other payables 96.8

Financial instruments valued at fair value:

Derivative financial instruments

Total 98.3

As at  
December 31, 2013 Level 1 Level 2

Fair-value measurement of financial instruments  
using the method of the fair-value hierarchy

Listed market prices
Significant other  

observable input factorsCHF m

Assets
Financial instruments valued at amortized cost:

Trade receivables and other receivables 178.0

Cash and cash equivalents 241.0

Financial instruments valued at fair value:

Other current financial instruments 67.9 67.9

Derivative financial instruments 0.2 0.2

Total 487.1 67.9 0.2

CHF m

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
Financial instruments valued at amortized cost:

Interest-bearing debt 1.3

Trade payables and other payables 97.2

Financial instruments valued at fair value:

Derivative financial instruments

Total 98.5
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As at December 31, 2014 

Cash and  
cash equivalents

Loans and  
receivables

Derivatives used  
for hedging

Financial  
instruments held  

for tradingCHF m

Assets
Trade receivables and other receivables 174.6

Cash and cash equivalents 205.1

Other current financial instruments 49.5

Derivative financial instruments 0.0

Total 205.1 174.6 0.0 49.5

Financial liabilities 
at amortized costs

Derivatives used  
for hedging

Financial  
instruments held  

for trading

  

CHF m

Liabilities
Interest-bearing debt 1.5

Derivative financial instruments

Trade payables and other payables 96.8

Total 98.3

As at December 31, 2013 

Cash and  
cash equivalents

Loans and  
receivables

Derivatives used  
for hedging

Financial  
instruments held  

for tradingCHF m

Assets
Trade receivables and other receivables 178.0

Cash and cash equivalents 241.0

Other current financial instruments 67.9

Derivative financial instruments 0.2

Total 241.0 178.0 0.2 67.9

Financial liabilities 
at amortized costs

Derivatives used  
for hedging

Financial  
instruments held  

for trading

  

CHF m

Liabilities
Interest-bearing debt 1.3

Derivative financial instruments

Trade payables and other payables 97.2

Total 98.5
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34 Related party transactions

Compensation paid to members of the Board of Direc-
tors and Executive Board: 

Executive Board Board of Directors1) Total

CHF m 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Remuneration 1.7 1.2 1.1 1.1 2.8 2.3

Employer contributions to the pension scheme 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.4 0.4

Share-based payments 1.5 0.9 2.5 2.2 4.0 3.1

Total payments 3.4 2.3 3.8 3.5 7.2 5.8

1)  The remuneration of the Delegate of the Board of Directors and 
CEO until end-2013 and, as of 2014, the Executive Chairman of the 
Board of Directors, This E. Schneider, is accounted for under the 
Board of Directors for both 2013 and 2014.

The remuneration paid to the Executive Board in the 
reporting year came to CHF 1.7 million (2013: CHF 1.2 
million) and consists of the fixed gross base salary in 
cash, the variable remuneration in cash, private use of 
the company car, and social security payments made 
by the company. Employer contributions to the pen-
sion fund are reported separately. Share-based pay-
ments to the Executive Board consist of the proportion 
of the fixed gross base salary, which is paid in shares of 
Forbo Holding Ltd, and the variable remuneration 
within the framework of the MIP (see note 24 ‘Employ-
ee participation plan’) for the reporting year, amount-
ing to CHF 2.0 million (payable in spring 2015, subject 
to approval by the 2015 Ordinary General Meeting) 
less the difference, amounting to CHF 0.5 million, be-
tween the bonuses deferred at the end of the previous 
year (payable in equity instruments) and the value of 
the equity instruments actually issued in the year un-
der review. The increase in the remuneration paid to 
the Executive Board is largely due to the appointment 
of the new CEO, Stephan Bauer, as per January 1, 2014. 

The remuneration of the Board of Directors amounted 
to CHF 1.1 million in the year under review (2013: CHF 
1.1 million). This includes the gross base remuneration 
in cash, the employer contributions to the usual social 
insurances, the lump sum and on-site expenses, and 
private use of the company car (only for the Executive 
Chairman of the Board of Directors). The employer 
contributions to the pension fund for the Executive 
Chairman of the Board of Directors are reported sepa-
rately. The share-based remuneration of the Board of 
Directors includes the portion of the gross base remu-
neration in shares. This consists on the one hand of the 
40% portion of the remuneration paid in shares to 
non-executive Board members, amounting to CHF 0.3 
million (2013: CHF 0.4 million) and, on the other, of the 
share package of the Executive Chairman of the Board 
of Directors amounting to CHF 2.2 million (2013: CHF 
2.1 million).
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35 Risk assessment and financial  
risk management

The tasks of the Board of Directors include identifying 
risks, determining suitable measures, and implement-
ing those measures or having them implemented. The 
Board of Directors of Forbo Holding Ltd conducted a 
Group-wide risk assessment in the reporting year and 
also determined the risks to be managed by particular 
management levels. The Board of Directors is closely 
involved in the assessment of strategic risks and, in con-
sultation with the Executive Board, ensures that oper-
ational risks are dealt with appropriately and that they 
are duly reported. This approach gives the Board a 
complete overview of the key risks and measures. This 
broad overview enables the Group to set priorities and 
allocate the necessary resources. 

Financial risk management
In its day-to-day operations, the Forbo Group uses de-
rivative and non-derivative financial instruments to 
manage the risks and opportunities arising from fluctu-
ations in exchange rates and interest rates. The various 
risks associated with existing assets and liabilities as 
well as planned and anticipated transactions are mon-
itored and managed centrally – with due regard to the 
Group’s overall risk exposure. In line with the Group’s 
hedging policy, Corporate Treasury constantly moni-
tors both the risk exposure and the effectiveness of 
the hedging instruments and issues recommendations 
with regard to partial or complete hedging of existing 
risks. 

The Group’s financial risk management policy does not 
permit the use of derivative financial instruments for 
speculation. In order to manage counterparty risk, de-
rivative financial transactions are concluded only with 
first-class banks. The creditworthiness of these institu-
tions is assessed on the basis of evaluations by leading 
rating agencies.

Derivatives include instruments used by the company 
to manage foreign currency and interest risks or com-
binations thereof. 

With effect from May 2013, the employment contract 
with the former Delegate and as of April 25, 2014 the 
Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors was ex-
tended to encompass the period from May 1, 2013 to 
December 31, 2016. The bulk of the compensation will 
again be paid in locked-up shares which have lock-up 
periods of three, four, and five years respectively, and in 
an annual cash payment of CHF 310,000 to be used in 
part for taxes and for employee contributions to the 
pension fund and social security payments. The un-
derlying share price used to calculate the number of 
shares is the weighted average price of the first and last 
five days on which shares of Forbo Holding Ltd were 
traded on the stock market in 2012 (CHF 522.12), less 
the discount as a result of the shares being locked up. 
The share package corresponds to annual compensa-
tion of CHF 2,200,000 (5,314 shares). As per IFRS 2, they 
are recognized pro rata for each calendar year.

With this share package and the cash remuneration,  
all benefits such as bonuses, inflation, salary adjust-
ments, options, etc. are settled. This share package 
may not be either pledged or assigned. The last third 
of the locked-up shares will be available on May 1, 
2018, at the earliest. 

The OaER entered into force on January 1, 2014. Ac-
cording to Article 28 of the OaER, employment con-
tracts must be compliant with this Ordinance no later 
than December 31, 2015. Consequently, all payments 
that had been agreed and were paid out for 2016 have 
to be reversed by December 31, 2015 at the latest. The 
value of this fixed remuneration paid to This E. Schnei-
der for fiscal 2016 amounts to CHF 2,200,000. In order 
to comply with and implement the provisions of the 
OaER, the Group and This E. Schneider have agreed 
that he will repay the Group in cash the amount of  
his fixed compensation for the period from January 1, 
2016 to December 31, 2016, plus interest of 0.5% from 
May 1, 2013 to December 31, 2013. The repayment was 
completed before year-end 2013 and will be paid out 
to him again in monthly instalments in 2016 after ap-
proval by the 2015 Ordinary General Meeting. The 
compensation package and the relevant agreements 
were adjusted accordingly. 

Information on the remuneration of the Executive 
Board and Board of Directors is explained in detail on 
page 87 of the Remuneration Report.

As at December 31, 2014 and 2013, Forbo had no sig-
nificant receivables due from or liabilities to related 
parties.
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Sensitivity analysis of existing foreign exchange 
positions on the balance sheet date
The following table shows the sensitivity of profit be-
fore tax to changes in the exchange rate of the US dol-
lar, the euro, and the pound sterling against the Swiss 
franc. The table only displays sensitivity in relation to 
transaction risks from financial instruments. 

Translation risks and the effects of loans that qualify as 
net investments are not taken into account. Except for 
the effect on profit, the same change in exchange rates 
with a sensitivity of +/– 5% has no effect on equity. 

Foreign exchange risk management
Risks arising from short-term currency exposure cre-
ated by purchases and sales of goods and services 
(transaction risks) are identified, and selective hedging 
strategies are implemented in line with an ongoing 
assessment of exchange rate movements. The Group 
uses only foreign exchange forward and option con-
tracts with maturities of up to 15 months to hedge 
against transaction risk. 

Furthermore, risks associated with the translation of 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign curren-
cies (translation risks) are managed by establishing an 
appropriate financing policy. 

Transaction risks from financial instruments

Change in  
exchange rate

Impact on profit  
before tax

 

CHF m

2014
EUR/CHF 5% 0.3

– 5% – 0.3

USD/CHF 5% 0.7

– 5% – 0.7

EUR/USD 5% 0.2

– 5% – 0.2

GBP/USD 5% – 0.2

– 5% 0.2

Transaction risks from financial instruments

Change in  
exchange rate

Impact on profit  
before tax

 

CHF m

2013
EUR/CHF 5% 0.5

– 5% – 0.5

USD/CHF 5% 0.2

– 5% – 0.2

EUR/USD 5% 0.0

– 5% 0.0

GBP/USD 5% 0.1

– 5% – 0.1
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est-bearing debt, and financial derivatives. Except for 
the effect on profit, the same change in interest rates 
of +/– 50 bp has no effect on equity. 

An average figure calculated from the opening and 
closing balance has been used for cash and cash 
equivalents since the final amount is not appropriate 
for calculating interest-rate sensitivity. 

Management of interest rate risks
Interest-rate risks arise from changes in the fair value 
of interest-bearing assets and liabilities caused by fluc-
tuations in interest rates. Since these risks may have a 
negative effect on net financial profit and sharehold-
ers’ equity, the Group uses derivatives to manage them 
on a case-by-case basis. The table below shows only 
the sensitivity of profit before tax to the stated chang-
es in interest rates for cash and cash equivalents, inter-

Interest rate risks from cash and cash equivalents,  
interest-bearing debt and financial derivatives

Change in  
interest rate

Impact on profit  
before tax

 

CHF m

2014
EUR 50bp 0.3

– 50bp – 0.3

USD 50bp 0.1

– 50bp – 0.1

CHF 50bp 0.4

– 50bp – 0.4

Interest rate risks from cash and cash equivalents,  
interest-bearing debt and financial derivatives

Change in  
interest rate

Impact on profit  
before tax

 

CHF m

2013
EUR 50bp 0.2

– 50bp – 0.2

USD 50bp 0.1

– 50bp – 0.1

CHF 50bp 0.7

– 50bp – 0.7
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ments at any time. At present, the Group regards a cash 
level of roughly CHF 50 million as sufficient to meet its 
payment obligations at all times.

The maturity structure of the existing financial liabilities 
is shown in the following table. These liabilities corre-
spond to contractually agreed maturities and represent 
nominal payment outflows. Inflows and outflows of 
funds from derivative financial instruments are shown 
separately. 

Management of liquidity risks
Group companies need sufficient cash in order to meet 
their commitments. Corporate Treasury is responsible 
for managing liquidity surpluses. The share of the ag-
gregate cash and cash equivalents and securities man-
aged by Corporate Treasury was around 64% on De-
cember 31, 2014. The Group has sufficient liquidity 
reserves (as at December 31, 2014 these stood at CHF 
205.1 million in cash and CHF 49.5 million in current 
financial instruments) to be able to meet its commit-

As at December 31, 2014
 

 

CHF m

Remaining term  
to maturity up to 

1 year 

Remaining term  
to maturity  
1 – 2 years

Remaining term  
to maturity  
2 – 5 years

Remaining term  
to maturity  

over 5 years

Interest-free liabilities 96.8

Leasing contract liabilities 0.1 0.1 0.4 0.9

Cash outflow from financial derivatives 0.0

Cash inflow from financial derivatives 0.2

As at December 31, 2013
 

 

CHF m

Remaining term  
to maturity up to 

1 year 

Remaining term  
to maturity  
1 – 2 years

Remaining term  
to maturity  
2 – 5 years

Remaining term  
to maturity  

over 5 years

Interest-free liabilities 97.2

Leasing contract liabilities 0.1 0.1 0.3 0.8

Cash outflow from financial derivatives 0.0

Cash inflow from financial derivatives 0.2

Management of credit risks
Credit risks arise from the possibility that customers 
may not be able to meet their agreed commitments. 
To manage this risk adequately, the financial credit-
worthiness of various customers is constantly moni-
tored. Credit risks are diversified by the company’s 
broad customer base in various business segments 

and geographic regions. With regard to counterparty 
risk exposure to banks, Group-wide directives stipulate 
that financial investments and other financial transac-
tions are to be made only with first-class banks. Given 
the credit ratings of these counterparties, the Group 
does not anticipate any defaults. 
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36 Events after the balance sheet date

On January 15, 2015, the Swiss National Bank an-
nounced that it was discontinuing its minimum ex-
change rate of CHF 1.20 per euro. The changes in the 
exchange rates after December 31, 2014 are not re-
flected in the present consolidated financial state-
ments. Since the Group uses the Swiss franc as its re-
porting currency, any strengthening of the Swiss franc 
has a negative translation effect on the consolidated 
accounts. 

The changes in the exchange rates after December 31, 
2014 did in relation to the Group financial results not 
cause any major price gains or losses at the time the 
annual financial statements were approved. Foreign 
exchange risk management is described in note 35 
‘Risk assessment and financial risk management’. 

Capital management 
For the Group, capital management means both opti-
mizing the capital employed and managing consoli-
dated shareholders’ equity, which consists of paid-up 
share capital, treasury shares, reserves, and translation 
differences. As at December 31, 2014, shareholders’ eq-
uity stood at CHF 738.8 million. The objectives of cap-
ital management are to ensure that the Group remains 
a going concern, to preserve its financial flexibility for 
investments, and to achieve a risk-adjusted return on 
equity for investors. 

Changes in economic conditions may require adjust-
ments to the Group’s shareholders’ equity. These ad-
justments can take the form of dividend distributions, 
capital repayments or increases, or share buybacks. 
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Company Registered office Currency Share capital

Equity 
interest

Flooring 
Systems

Move-
ment 

Systems
Holding/
Services

Australia
Forbo Floorcoverings Pty. Ltd. Wetherill Park, NSW AUD 500,000 100% S

Forbo Siegling Pty. Ltd. Wetherill Park, NSW AUD 6,000,000 100% S

Austria
Forbo Flooring Austria GmbH Vienna EUR 73,000 100% S

Forbo Siegling Austria Ges.m.b.H. Vienna EUR 330,000 100% S

Belgium
Forbo Flooring N.V. Groot-Bijgaarden EUR 250,000 100% S

Brazil
Forbo Pisos Ltda. São Paulo BRL 2,000,000 100% S

Forbo Siegling Brasil Ltda. São Paulo N BRL 7,008,746 50% MS

Canada
Forbo Flooring Canada Corp. Halifax CAD 500,200 100% S

Forbo Siegling Canada Corp. Halifax CAD 501,000 100% S

Chile
Forbo Siegling Chile S.A. Santiago N CLP 335,631,092 50% S

Czech Republic
Forbo Siegling Ceska republika s.r.o. Liberec CZK 100,000 100% S

Forbo s.r.o. Prague CZK 500,000 100% S

Denmark
Forbo Flooring A/S Glostrup DKK 500,000 100% S

Forbo Siegling Danmark A/S Brøndby DKK 32,300,000 100% MS

Finland
Forbo Flooring Finland Oy Helsinki EUR 33,638 100% S

France
Forbo Château-Renault S.A.S. Château-Renault EUR 1,000,000 100% MS

Forbo Participations S.A.S. Reims D EUR 5,000,000 100% H

Forbo Reims SNC Reims EUR 3,879,810 100% MS

Forbo Sarlino S.A.S. Reims EUR 6,400,000 100% S

Forbo Siegling France S.A.S. Lomme EUR 819,000 100% S

Group companies
(as at December 31, 2014)

S  Sales
MS Manufacturing and Sales
H Holding/Services
N Not consolidated as at December 31, 2014 
D Direct participation of Forbo Holding Ltd
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S  Sales
MS Manufacturing and Sales
H Holding/Services
N Not consolidated as at December 31, 2014 
D Direct participation of Forbo Holding Ltd

 
 
Company Registered office Currency Share capital

Equity 
interest

Flooring 
Systems

Move-
ment 

Systems
Holding/
Services

Germany
Forbo Beteiligungen GmbH Lörrach D EUR 15,400,000 100% H

Forbo Erfurt GmbH Erfurt EUR 2,050,000 100% MS

Forbo Flooring GmbH Paderborn EUR 500,000 100% S

Forbo Siegling GmbH Hanover EUR 10,230,000 100% MS

Realbelt GmbH Lörrach EUR 100,000 100% S

Hong Kong
Forbo International Hong Kong Ltd. Hong Kong HKD 1 100% H

India
Forbo Flooring India Pvt. Ltd. Delhi INR 15,000,000 100% S

Forbo Siegling Movement Systems  
India Pvt. Ltd.

Pune INR 26,000,000 100% S

Indonesia
PT Forbo Siegling Indonesia Kabupaten Bandung IDR 2,883,900,000 100% S

Ireland
Forbo Ireland Ltd. Dublin EUR 125,000 100% S

Italy
Forbo Resilienti S.r.l. Segrate (Milan) EUR 60,000 100% S

Forbo Siegling Italia S.p.A. Paderno Dugnano 
(Milan)

EUR 120,000 100% S

Japan
Forbo Siegling Japan Ltd. Tokyo JPY 330,000,000 100% MS

Jersey, C.I.
Forbo Invest Ltd. Saint Helier GBP 25,000 100% H

Malaysia
Forbo Siegling SDN. BHD. Johor Bahru MYR 2,500,002 100% S

Mexico
Forbo Siegling, S.A. de C.V. Tlalnepantla MXN 24,676,404 100% MS

Netherlands
Forbo Eurocol Nederland B.V. Zaanstad EUR 454,000 100% MS

Forbo Flooring B.V. Krommenie EUR 11,350,000 100% MS

Forbo Flooring Coral N.V. Krommenie EUR 1,944,500 100% MS

Forbo NL Holding B.V. Krommenie EUR 13,500,000 100% H

Forbo-Novilon B.V. Coevorden EUR 3,624,000 100% MS

Forbo Siegling Nederland B.V. Spankeren EUR 113,445 100% S
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Company Registered office Currency Share capital

Equity 
interest

Flooring 
Systems

Move-
ment 

Systems
Holding/
Services

New Zealand
Forbo Siegling Ltd. Auckland NZD 650,000 100% S

Norway
Forbo Flooring AS Asker NOK 1,000,000 100% S

People’s Republic of China
Forbo Shanghai Co., Ltd. Shanghai CHF 4,000,000 100% S MS

Forbo Siegling (China) Co., Ltd. Shenyang USD 16,221,000 100% MS

Portugal
Forbo-Revestimentos, S.A. Maia (Porto) EUR 74,850 100% S

Romania
Forbo Siegling Romania S.R.L. Bucharest RON 38,000 100% S

Russia
OOO ‘Forbo Flooring‘ Moscow RUB 500,000 100% S

OOO ‘Forbo Kaluga‘ Moscow RUB 158,313,780 100% MS

OOO ‘Forbo Stroitech‘ Saint Petersburg RUB 400,000 100% S

ZAO ‘Forbo Siegling‘ Stary Oskol RUB 187,181,000 100% MS

Slovakia
Forbo Siegling s.r.o. Malacky EUR 15,281,639 100% MS

South Korea
Forbo Korea Ltd. Seoul KRW 900,000,000 100% S S

Spain
Forbo Pavimentos, S.A. Barcelona EUR 60,101 100% S

Forbo Siegling Iberica, S.A. Montcada i Reixac  
(Barcelona)

EUR 1,532,550 100% S

Sweden
Forbo Flooring AB Gothenburg D SEK 8,000,000 100% S

Forbo Project Vinyl AB Gothenburg D SEK 50,000,000 100% H

Forbo Siegling Svenska AB Kållered (Gothenburg) SEK 1,000,000 100% S

S  Sales
MS Manufacturing and Sales
H Holding/Services
N Not consolidated as at December 31, 2014 
D Direct participation of Forbo Holding Ltd
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Company Registered office Currency Share capital

Equity 
interest

Flooring 
Systems

Move-
ment 

Systems
Holding/
Services

Switzerland
Forbo Financial Services AG Baar D CHF 100,000 100% H

Forbo Finanz AG Baar D CHF 10,000,000 100% H

Forbo Finanz II AG Baar CHF 250,000 100% H

Forbo-Giubiasco SA Giubiasco D CHF 100,000 100% MS

Forbo International SA Baar D CHF 100,000 100% MS H

Thailand
Forbo Siegling (Thailand) Co. Ltd. Bangkok D THB 9,000,000 100% S

Turkey
Forbo Siegling Hareket Sistemleri Ticaret  
Limited irketi

Istanbul TRY 2,000,000 100% S

United Kingdom
Forbo Flooring UK Ltd. Kirkcaldy GBP 3,609,990 100% MS H

Forbo Floors UK Ltd. Derbyshire D GBP 17,262,001 100% H

Forbo-Nairn Ltd. Derbyshire GBP 8,000,000 100% H

Forbo Siegling (UK) Ltd. Dunkinfield GBP 50,774 100% S

Forbo UK Ltd. Derbyshire GBP 49,500,000 100% H

Westbond Ltd. Derbyshire GBP 400,000 100% H

USA
Forbo America Inc. Wilmington, DE D USD 19,957,259 100% H

Forbo America Services Inc. Wilmington, DE USD 50,000 100% H

Forbo Flooring, Inc. Wilmington, DE USD 3,517,000 100% S

Forbo Siegling, LLC Wilmington, DE USD 15,455,000 100% MS

S  Sales
MS Manufacturing and Sales
H Holding/Services
N Not consolidated as at December 31, 2014 
D Direct participation of Forbo Holding Ltd
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Report of the statutory auditor to the General Meeting  
of Forbo Holding Ltd, Baar

Report of the statutory auditor on the consolidated financial statements
As statutory auditor, we have audited the consolidated financial statements of Forbo Holding Ltd, which com-
prise the consolidated balance sheet, consolidated income statement, comprehensive income statement, con-
solidated shareholders’ equity, consolidated cash flow statement and notes (pages 94 to 145), for the year ended 
December 31, 2014. 

Board of Directors’ responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial state-
ments in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the requirements of Swiss 
law. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control system relevant to 
the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible for selecting and applying  
appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards as well as the International Stand-
ards on Auditing. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the enti-
ty’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit proce-
dures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effec-
tiveness of the entity’s internal control system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the over-
all presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014 give a true and fair 
view of the financial position, the results of operations and the cash flows in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law.

Report of the statutory auditor 



151FORBO ANNUAL REPORT 2014 – CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Report on other legal requirements
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and 
independence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with our 
independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an 
 internal control system exists which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
according to the instructions of the Board of Directors.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

 
Daniel Ketterer Reto Tognina
Audit expert Audit expert
Auditor in charge 

Zurich, March 11, 2015 
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2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

CHF m

Net sales 1,226.8 1,199.7 1,201.1 1,203.8 1,291.2
Cost of goods sold – 765.8 – 747.3 – 761.2 – 745.1 – 785.6

Gross profit 461.0 452.4 439.9 458.7 505.6
Development costs – 16.5 – 16.4 – 16.3 – 16.0 – 17.6

Marketing and distribution costs – 196.6 – 197.1 – 194.0 – 192.5 – 213.3

Administrative costs – 94.2 – 90.7 – 96.6 – 96.6 – 103.9

Other operating expenses – 13.2 – 19.3 – 25.3 – 17.8 – 12.1

Other operating income 8.9 6.8 63.8 13.1 10.0

Operating profit 149.4 135.7 171.5 148.9 168.7
Financial income 5.9 10.9 5.7 30.1 44.3

Financial expenses – 1.0 – 5.7 – 11.2 – 11.7 – 15.0

Group profit before taxes 154.3 140.9 166.0 167.3 198.0
Income taxes – 30.9 – 30.7 – 35.9 – 29.9 – 48.8

Group profit for the year from continuing operations 123.4 110.2 130.1 137.4 149.2
Group profit for the year from discontinued operations after taxes 0.2 7.4 83.2 9.1 14.1
Group profit for the year 123.6 117.6 213.3 146.5 163.3

Consolidated income statements  
2010 – 2014
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31.12.2014 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Assets
CHF m

Non-current assets 418.5 408.2 410.4 536.4 743.9
Property, plant, and equipment 234.9 232.3 233.8 359.8 450.2

Intangible assets 146.1 146.4 149.2 153.5 270.4

Deferred tax assets 37.2 29.3 27.2 21.9 17.6

Investments in associates and other non-current assets 0.3 0.2 0.2 1.2 5.7

Current assets 677.1 718.8 802.9 965.5 750.3
Assets held for sale 361.4

Inventories 230.6 213.4 218.6 219.6 260.9

Trade receivables 150.6 148.8 150.2 159.2 220.8

Other receivables 24.0 29.2 28.9 24.8 28.4

Deferred income and prepaid charges 17.3 18.3 11.8 8.0 21.4

Other current financial instruments 49.5 68.1 142.1 0.1 47.4

Cash and cash equivalents 205.1 241.0 251.3 192.4 171.4

Total assets 1,095.6 1,127.0 1,213.3 1,501.9 1,494.2

31.12.2014 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
CHF m

Shareholders’ equity 738.8 786.8 729.2 815.3 729.7
Share capital 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.3

Treasury shares – 0.1 – 0.1 – 0.1 – 0.1 – 0.1

Reserves and retained earnings 738.7 786.7 729.0 815.1 729.5

Non-current liabilities 112.6 99.1 105.0 276.2 360.8
Non-current financial debt 1.4 1.2 2.6 144.5 196.5

Employee benefit obligations 60.5 51.8 51.1 42.7 74.7

Non-current provisions 24.2 26.1 35.8 39.5 35.3

Deferred tax liabilities 26.5 20.0 15.5 49.5 54.3

Current liabilities 244.2 241.1 379.1 410.4 403.7
Trade payables 86.5 87.2 84.7 86.1 135.7

Current provisions and accrued expenses 108.2 105.8 112.9 125.0 140.3

Current financial debt 0.6 0.7 132.5 47.5 65.9

Current tax liabilities 18.9 14.5 26.6 27.6 31.0

Other current liabilities 30.0 32.9 22.4 26.6 30.8

Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale 97.6

Total liabilities 356.8 340.2 484.1 686.6 764.5
Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 1,095.6 1,127.0 1,213.3 1,501.9 1,494.2

Consolidated balance sheets  
2010 – 2014
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2014 2013

Income
CHF Note

Financial income:

From investments in and advances to Group companies 2 153,150,197 60,692,036

From securities and current investments 30,976 65,132

Other income 3 9,587,448 1,383,828

Total income 162,768,621 62,140,996

2014 2013

Expenses
CHF Note

Administrative expenses 2,697,828 4,715,876

Financial expenses: 2,697,569 8,790,210

From investments in and advances from Group companies 4 2,697,569 7,685,713

From securities and current investments 5 0 1,104,497

Taxes – 56,399 – 668,068

Total expenses 5,338,998 12,838,018
Net profit for the year 157,429,623 49,302,978

Income statement for Forbo Holding Ltd
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Balance sheet for Forbo Holding Ltd  
(before appropriation of available earnings)

31.12.2014 31.12.2013

Assets
CHF Note

Non-current assets 328,326,487 475,500,490
Investments in Group companies 6 315,156,221 385,089,092

Advances to Group companies 7 13,170,266 90,411,398

Current assets 185,148,257 158,913,180
Other receivables from Group companies 1,053,586 1,006,558

Other receivables from third parties 8,402 14,602

Deferred income and prepaid expenses 821,813 851,802

Marketable securities 8 172,713,635 96,372,683

Cash and cash equivalents 9 10,550,821 60,667,535

Total assets 513,474,744 634,413,670

31.12.2014 31.12.2013

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
CHF Note

Shareholders’ equity 475,781,440 418,574,519
Share capital 10 215,000 225,000

Statutory reserves:

General reserves 13 15,600,000 15,600,000

Capital contribution reserves 13 73,636,128 102,225,080

Reserves for treasury shares 12 186,616,651 117,957,511

Available earnings:

Retained earnings 42,284,038 133,263,950

Net profit for the year 157,429,623 49,302,978

Liabilities 37,693,304 215,839,151
Other liabilities to Group companies 14 30,571,400 204,694,758

Current liabilities to third parties 20,450 20,422

Accrued expenses 7,101,454 11,123,971

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 513,474,744 634,413,670
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4 Financial expenses from investments 
in and advances from Group companies

The item financial expenses includes losses on foreign 
currency accounts and interest expense for liabilities to 
Group companies. 

5 Financial expenses from securities  
and current investments

In the previous year, the item ‘Financial expenses from 
securities and current investments’ primarily consisted 
of an unrealized loss due to a change in valuation of 
treasury shares.

6 Investments in Group companies 

In order to simplify the Group’s structure, some foreign 
subsidiaries were transferred within the Group in the 
year under review. In this connection, holdings in For-
bo Finanz II AG, Forbo Floorcoverings Pty. Ltd., Forbo 
Flooring AS, and Forbo Invest Ltd. were transferred to 
the subsidiary Forbo Finanz AG in 2014.

As at December 31, 2014, Forbo Holding Ltd held the 
following direct investments: 

1 Accounting

Applying the transitional provisions of the new ac-
counting law, these financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the provisions on ac-
counting and financial reporting of the Swiss Code of 
Obligations effective until December 31, 2012. 

2 Financial income from investments in 
and advances to Group companies

Income from investments in and advances to Group 
companies amounting to CHF 153.2 million (2013: 
CHF 60.7 million) consisted mainly of dividend in-
come, which came to CHF 140.9 million (2013: CHF 
56.6 million) as well as interest income and realized 
price gains on loans. 

3 Other income 

The item ‘Other income’ includes the release of impair-
ments on loans to subsidiaries in the reporting year, 
since the loans were repaid in full. In the previous year, 
this item included mainly proceeds from the sale of 
shareholdings and brand rights belonging to the in-
dustrial adhesives activity, including synthetic poly-
mers.

Notes to the financial statements  
for Forbo Holding Ltd

Investments in Group companies
Registered office Activity Currency

Share capital 
in 1,000

Equity
interestCompany

Forbo America Inc. US-Wilmington, DE Holding/Services USD 19,957 100%

Forbo Beteiligungen GmbH DE-Lörrach Holding/Services EUR 15,400 100%

Forbo Financial Services AG CH-Baar Services CHF 100 100%

Forbo Finanz AG CH-Baar Holding/Services CHF 10,000 100%

Forbo Flooring AB SE-Gothenburg Sales SEK 8,000 100%

Forbo Floors UK Ltd. UK-Derbyshire Services GBP 17,262 100%

Forbo-Giubiasco SA CH-Giubiasco Manufacturing and Sales CHF 100 100%

Forbo International SA CH-Baar Services, Manufacturing,  
and Sales

CHF 100 100%

Forbo Participations S.A.S. FR-Reims Holding/Services EUR 5,000 100%

Forbo Project Vinyl AB SE-Gothenburg Services SEK 50,000 100%

Forbo Siegling (Thailand) Co. Ltd. TH-Bangkok Sales THB 9,000 99.8%
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Following the legally mandatory notice to creditors, 
the capital reduction was entered in the Commercial 
Register on July 4, 2014. The Board of Directors was 
furthermore authorized to buy back the company’s 
own shares, over a period of three years, for the pur-
pose of subsequent cancellation of the share certifi-
cates, up to a maximum of 10% of the share capital.  
In the framework of this new share buyback program 
approved at the Ordinary general meeting of Forbo 
Holding Ltd on April 25, 2014, 158,467 shares had 
been repurchased by the end of the year under review. 

11 Conditional capital

Originally, conditional capital of CHF 8,500,000 for the 
exercise of shareholder options and warrants in con-
nection with a bond issue was created by a resolution 
of the Annual General Meeting held on April 27, 1994. 
Following the exercise of options in 1994, 1995 and 
1997 and reductions in the par value by CHF 22 per 
share in 2003, CHF 8 per share in 2004, CHF 6 per share 
in 2007, CHF 10 per share in 2008, and CHF 3.90 per 
share in 2009, the conditional capital on December 31, 
2014, remained unchanged against the previous year 
at CHF 16,645.

12 Reserve for treasury shares

The ‘Reserve for treasury shares’ in Forbo Holding Ltd 
amounting to CHF 186.6 million on the balance sheet 
date corresponds to the value of all treasury shares val-
ued at cost. The treasury shares held by Forbo Holding 
Ltd and its subsidiaries developed as follows over the 
reporting year:

7 Advances to Group companies

Advances to Group companies are denominated in 
Swiss francs and foreign currencies.

8 Marketable securities

The item ‘Marketable securities’, amounting to CHF 
172.7 million (2013: CHF 96.4 million), includes treasury 
shares in Forbo Holding Ltd. This item is valued at cost 
of acquisition since December 31, 2013. The change in 
valuation resulted in a loss in the previous year which 
was recognized in ‘Financial expenses from securities 
and current investments’. 

9 Cash and cash equivalents

This item consists of bank deposits and cash equiva-
lents with initial maturities of up to 3 months. 

10 Share capital

As at December 31, 2014, the share capital of Forbo 
Holding Ltd totaled CHF 215,000 (2013: CHF 225,000), 
divided into 2,150,000 registered shares with a par val-
ue of CHF 0.10 each. 21,419 registered shares without 
voting or dividend rights are at the disposal of the 
Board of Directors. 

At the Ordinary General Meeting of Forbo Holding Ltd 
held on April 25, 2014, the shareholders approved a 
capital reduction from CHF 225,000 to CHF 215,000 by 
cancellation of the shares acquired in connection with 
the share buyback program approved at the Ordinary 
General Meeting of November 5, 2012, and the corre-
sponding amendment to the Articles of Association. 

 

Treasury shares  Cost 
CHF

Number of  
registered shares

As at January 1, 2014 117,957,511 217,297

Additions 148,939,934 158,997

Disposals – 80,280,794 – 115,144

As at December 31, 2014 186,616,651 261,150
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13 General reserves

General reserves totaled CHF 89.2 million (previous 
year: CHF 117.8 million) and consist of general reserves 
(CHF 15.6 million) and general capital contribution re-
serves (CHF 73.6 million). 

14 Other liabilities to Group companies

‘Other liabilities to Group companies’ as at December 
31, 2014, included in particular advances from Forbo 
Finanz AG in connection with its cash pool.

15 Contingent liabilities

Guarantees and letters of support to third parties in fa-
vor of Group companies amounted to CHF 8.2 million 
at year-end (2013: CHF 7.5 million), of which CHF 2.8 
million (2013: CHF 2.6 million) was utilized. 

16 Significant shareholders

According to information available to the Board of Di-
rectors, the following shareholders or groups of share-
holders with restricted voting rights constituted signif-
icant shareholders in the company pursuant to Article 
663c Swiss Code of Obligations as at the reporting 
date: 

  
Number of shares

  
As percentage

Michael Pieper, Hergiswil, and Artemis Beteiligungen I AG, Hergiswil 616,779 28.69%

Forbo Holding Ltd, Baar, together with its two subsidiaries  
Forbo International SA, Baar, and Forbo Finanz AG, Baar

261,150 12.15%
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Shareholdings
IN 2014
As at December 31, 2014, the individual members of 
the Board of Directors and the Executive Board (includ-
ing related parties) held the following number of shares 
in Forbo Holding Ltd: 

Shareholdings 2014
Shares Options1)

 

2012 series

Name and function 1:12)

This E. Schneider, Executive Chairman3) 64,981 

Michael Pieper, Vice Chairman 616,779 

Dr. Peter Altorfer, Vice Chairman4) 1,032 

Claudia Coninx-Kaczynski5), member 36 

Dr. Reto Müller, member 456 

Vincent Studer, member 695 

Total Board of Directors 683,979 
Stephan Bauer, Chief Excecutive Officer 538 

Matthias P. Huenerwadel, Executive Vice President Flooring Systems 1,500 3,051 

Andreas Spreiter, Chief Financial Officer 570 

Jean-Michel Wins, Executive Vice President Movement Systems 92 

Total Executive Board 2,700 3,051

1) Following the amendment of the MIP, all the sums paid into it are 
invested in shares of Forbo Holding Ltd starting as of January 1, 
2013. As of the 2013 business year, no further options were issued 
in connection with the MIP. However, there are still options out-
standing within the MIP, which was launched in 2006 and revised 
in 2012.

2) Subscription ratio.

3) The share portion for the Executive Chairman of the Board of Di-
rectors amounts to 19,483 shares from the employment contract 
for the period from May 1, 2013 to December 31, 2016. The shares 
are subject to lock-up periods of three, four, and five years. The last 
third of the shares will be available on May 1, 2018 at the earliest.

4) Vice Chairman since the 2014 Ordinary General Meeting (previ-
ously member).

5) New member of the Board of Directors since the 2014 Ordinary 
General Meeting.
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3) Following the amendment of the MIP, all the sums paid into it 
will be fully invested in shares of Forbo Holding Ltd starting on 
January 1, 2013. As of the 2013 business year, no further options 
were issued in connection with the MIP. However, there are still 
options outstanding within the MIP, which was launched in 2006 
and revised in 2012.

IN 2013
As at December 31, 2013, the current and former 
members of the Board of Directors and the Executive 

17 Risk assessment

With respect to the risk management process conduct-
ed pursuant to Article 663b item 12 of the Swiss Code 
of Obligations, please refer to the comments in note 35 
‘Risk assessment and financial risk management’ to the 
consolidated financial statements.

18 Events after the balance sheet date

On January 15, 2015, the Swiss National Bank an-
nounced that it was discontinuing its minimum ex-
change rate of CHF 1.20 per euro. The changes in the 
exchange rates after December 31, 2014 are not re-
flected in the present financial statements. A strength-
ening of the Swiss franc will mainly have a negative 
translation effect on the value of and income from in-
vestments in Group companies.

The changes in the exchange rates after December 31, 
2014 did not cause any price gains or losses at the 
time the annual financial statements were approved.

1) Subscription ratio.

2) The compensation to the Delegate of the Board of Directors and 
CEO is disclosed separately and shown in the line Board of Direc-
tors.

Board (including related parties) held the following 
number of shares in Forbo Holding Ltd:

Shareholdings 2013
Shares Options3)

 

2012 series 2011 series 2010 series

Name and function 1:11) 1:11) 1:11)

Dr. Albert Gnägi, Chairman 5,162 

Michael Pieper, Vice Chairman 681,719 

Dr. Peter Altorfer, member 955 

Vincent Studer, member 631 

Dr. Reto Müller, member 403 

Non-executive members of the Board of Directors 688,870 
This E. Schneider, Delegate of the Board of Directors and CEO2 86,368 

Total Board of Directors 775,238 
Matthias P. Huenerwadel, Executive Vice President Flooring Systems 2,310 3,051 2,033 565 

Andreas Spreiter, Chief Financial Officer 56 

Jean-Michel Wins, Executive Vice President Movement Systems 0 

Total Executive Board 2,366 3,051 2,033 565 
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The Board of Directors proposes to the Ordinary Gen-
eral Meeting that the available retained earnings, con-
sisting of: 

2014 2013

CHF

Net profit 157,429,623 49,302,978

Retained earnings 42,284,038 133,263,950

Release of general capital contribution reserves1) 30,221,600 29,080,184

Total at the shareholders’ meeting’s disposal 229,935,261 211,647,112

be appropriated as follows:

2014 2013

CHF

Withholding tax-free distribution2) 30,221,600 29,080,184

To be carried forward 199,713,661 182,566,928

Total at the shareholders’ meeting’s disposal 229,935,261 211,647,112

1) The definitive amount to be distributed depends on the amount 
of the tax-free distribution as described below in footnote 2).

Proposal for appropriation of available 
earnings of Forbo Holding Ltd

2) At the Ordinary General Meeting of April 24, 2015, the Board of 
Directors will propose a dividend payment of CHF 16 (2013: CHF 
14) per registered share out of the capital contribution reserves, 
with the exception of the treasury shares held by Forbo Holding 
Ltd or a subsidiary thereof, for which no dividend is paid. The de-
finitive amount may therefore still change.
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Report of the statutory auditor to the General Meeting 
Forbo Holding Ltd, Baar

Report of the statutory auditor on the financial statements
As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial statements of Forbo Holding Ltd, which comprise the income 
statement, balance sheet and notes (pages 156 to 163), for the year ended December 31, 2014. 

Board of Directors’ responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the  
requirements of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. This responsibility includes designing,  
implementing and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible 
for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable 
in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material mis-
statement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. An audit also includes eval-
uating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evi-
dence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014 comply with Swiss law and the 
company’s articles of incorporation.
 

Report of the statutory auditor
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Report on other legal requirements
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and 
independence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with our 
independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an 
 internal control system exists which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements according to 
the instructions of the Board of Directors.

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss law and the com-
pany’s articles of incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

 
Daniel Ketterer Reto Tognina
Audit expert Audit expert
Auditor in charge 

Zurich, March 11, 2015




